


































































































































































Illustrations of application of remuneration policy
The following charts illustrate the different elements of the executive directors’ remuneration under three different performance scenarios: 
‘Minimum, ‘Target’ and ‘Maximum’. The assumptions used are provided below the charts. The illustrations are based on annual bonus 
awards for 2019 and Performance Share Plan awards to be made in 2019.

C G Maclean	 S G Bennett

 Fixed Pay     Annual Bonus     Performance Share Plan
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 Fixed Pay     Annual Bonus     Performance Share Plan

Minimum

Component Minimum Target Maximum

Fixed Base salary Base salary for 2019

Pension Value of cash supplement for 2019

Benefits Taxable value of annual benefits provided in 2018

Variable Annual bonus 0% of maximum 60% of maximum C G MacLean 125% of salary 
S G Bennett 115% of salary

2011 Performance  
Share Plan1

0% vesting 25% vesting C G MacLean 150% of salary 
S G Bennett 120% of salary

Note:
1.	 The value for the Performance Share Plan is based on the face value of annual PSP awards under the Policy and base salaries for 2019. The calculation excludes 

share price growth or dividends during the performance period.
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The awards made on 8 March 2018 under the PSP are subject to the following performance conditions:

Relative total shareholder return condition EPS condition

Company relative TSR performance against the FTSE 250 
Index (excluding investment trusts and financial  
services companies) over three year period ending  
31 December 2020

EPS for the 2020 financial year Percentage of award that will vest

Upper quartile 40.9 pence or more 40%

Between median and upper quartile Between 35.0 pence and 40.9 pence On a straight-line basis  
between 10% and 40%

Median 35.0 pence 10%

Below median Less than 35.0 pence 0%

A further 20% of the award is subject to strategic measures as referred to on page 79, the targets for which will be disclosed following the 
end of the performance period.

Pension entitlements 
Both executive directors receive a cash allowance in lieu of pension contributions. No additional benefit is receivable in the event of a 
director retiring early.

Cash allowance  
(% salary)

C G MacLean 25

S G Bennett 20

Single figure of remuneration for non-executive directors

Non-executive directors Base fee

Committee
 membership

 fee
Committee 

chair fee Total

N A Johnson 2018 170,000 – – 170,000

2017 170,000 – – 170,000

The Hon. A G Catto 2018 40,000 – – 40,000

2017 40,000 – – 40,000

B W D Connolly1 2018 45,000 10,000 5,000 60,000

2017 45,000 10,000 5,000 60,000

Dr J Jansz 2018 40,000 10,000 – 50,000

2017 40,000 10,000 – 50,000

C A Johnstone 2018 40,000 10,000 5,000 55,000

2017 40,000 10,000 5,000 55,000

Dato’ Lee Hau Hian 2018 40,000 – – 40,000

2017 40,000 – – 40,000

H A Van Deursen2 2018 11,000 – – 11,000

2017 – – – –

Notes
1.	 Base fee includes an amount of £5,000 per annum for role as Senior Independent Director.
2.	 Appointed to the Board on 21 September 2018.

The fees to be paid in 2019 to the Chairman and the non-executive directors were reviewed in November 2018 and January 2019 
respectively and as a result:

++ the Chairman’s fee was increased from £170,000 p.a to £180,000 p.a with effect from 1 January 2019;

++ the committee membership fee for the independent non-executive directors was increased from £10,000 p.a to £15,000 p.a with effect 
from 1 January 2019.

++ the base fee for the non-independent non-executive directors was increased from £40,000 to £41,200 p.a with effect from 1 January 2019.
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Directors’ shareholding and share interests (number of shares/options)

Directors

Interests in
 Company

 shares 
 31 December

 2018

Vested
 unexercised 
performance 

related 
options 

31 December 
2018

Total
unfettered 
interests in 
shares and 

vested  
options

 31 December
2018

Unvested 
performance 

related 
options 

31 December 
20181

Share
options

 exercised
 during

2018

Share
ownership

 requirements
(% of salary) 2

Interests
in shares at 

31 December
 2018 

(% of salary)

C G MacLean 365,356 – 365,356 508,539 223,152 200% 244%

S G Bennett 93,548 – 93,548 254,172 165,949 150% 100%

The Hon. A G Catto 1,492,392

6,697,500*

B W D Connolly 2,200

Dato’ Lee Hau Hian 44,763

Dr J J C Jansz 10,000

N A Johnson 100,000

C A Johnstone –

H A Van Deursen –

Notes
*	 Non-beneficial interest.
1.	 Unvested performance related options comprise the awards made under the 2011 PSP in 2016, 2017 and 2018. Details of the performance conditions attaching to 

the: 2016 awards are set out on page 84; 2017 awards are set out below; all 2018 awards are set out on page 85.
2.	 Until this requirement is met no sales of shares that vest under long-term incentive plans are permitted other than to satisfy tax liabilities that arise on the exercise 

of share awards under such plans. In addition, if the requirement is not met within three years of the date of appointment as a director, 50% of any annual bonus is 
normally deferred into shares. The Committee considers that unfettered unexercised vested nil-cost awards are economically equivalent to shares and as such that 
they should count (on a net of tax basis) toward compliance with the share ownership guidelines. As a result of the 2018 remuneration outcomes S G Bennett is 
expected to meet his share ownership requirement during 2019.

The performance conditions attaching to the PSP awards granted in 2017 are as follows:

Relative total shareholder return condition EPS condition

Company relative TSR performance against the  
FTSE 250 Index (excluding investment trusts and  
financial services companies) over three year  
period ending 31 December 2019

EPS for the 2019 financial year Percentage of award that vests

Upper quartile 37.7 pence or more 40%

Between median and upper quartile Between 32.3 pence and 37.7 pence On a straight-line basis  
between 10% and 40% 

Median 32.3 pence 10%

Below median Less than 32.3 pence 0%

A further 20% of the award is subject to strategic measures as referred to on page 79, the targets for which will be disclosed following the 
end of the performance period.

Payments to past directors
No payments were made to past directors.

Payments for loss of office
No payments for loss office were made during the year.
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The following information is unaudited:

Performance graph and table
The graph and the table below allow comparison of the total shareholder return of the Company and the Chief Executive Officer 
remuneration outcomes over the last ten years.

 Synthomer plc         FTSE 250 (excluding investment and financial services companies)
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The graph above compares the total shareholder return performance of the Company with that of the FTSE 250 (excluding investment 
and financial services companies) which is considered to be the most appropriate index against which to make a comparison.

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

CEO total single figure  
of remuneration (£000) 786 1,484 3,934 1,487 923 967 1,246 1,218 2,516 1,923

Bonus (% of maximum awarded) 100 100 100 27 0 57.3 96.7 100 100 76.5

LTIP (% of maximum vesting) 0 100 100 100 50 0 n/a n/a 96.3 86.2

The Chief Executive Officer total single figure of remuneration includes salary, benefits and pension contributions paid in the year together 
with bonuses and long-term incentive awards which vested based on performance in the year.

Percentage change in remuneration of director undertaking the role of chief executive compared with UK  
Group employees
The table below sets out the increase in total remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer and that of the employees of the Group’s main 
UK trading subsidiary. Total employee pay is based on the total salary, benefits and bonuses for employees of that company comprising 
some 370 employees. The directors consider that this employee population is the most relevant for comparison purposes taking into 
account geographical location and remuneration structure.

Salary 
% increase

Taxable benefits 
% increase/(decrease)

Annual bonus 
% decrease

C G MacLean 0 0 (23.5)

Total employee pay, benefits and bonuses 4.3 (2.3) (11.0)

Relative importance of spend on pay
The table below shows the relative importance of the Group’s all employee remuneration expense compared with returns to shareholders 
by way of dividends.

2018 
 £m

2017
 £m % change

Dividends 42.5 39.1 8.7%

Total employee remuneration 123.1 116.3 5.8%

Dividends are the dividends paid in the year. Total employment remuneration is the consolidated salary cost for all Group employees.

Emoluments*
2018 

 £000
2017 

 £000

The total amounts for directors’ remuneration and other benefits were:

Emoluments 2,138 2,415

Note
*	 Emoluments are recognised on a pro-rata basis for the period they were Directors. 

Synthomer plc Annual Report 2018 87

G
o

ve
rn

a
n

c
e �

5
8

-92

S
trateg

ic rep
o

rt �
IFC

-57
G

ro
up

 financial statem
ents�

93
-144

C
o

m
p

any financial statem
ents�

145
-156

O
ther info

rm
atio

n�
157-16

0



External appointments
Executive directors are permitted to accept external appointments with the prior approval of the Board provided that there is no 
adverse impact to their role and duties to the Company. Any fees arising from such appointments may be retained by the executive 
directors where the appointment is unrelated to the Group’s business. SG Bennett does not currently hold any external appointments. 
CG MacLean was appointed as a non-executive director of Saudi Basic Industries (SABIC) headquartered in Riyadh in October 2017 
and receives a board membership fee of US$157,500 per annum and a committee fee of SAR 259,000 per annum. Mr MacLean 
was appointed as a non-executive director of Clariant Ltd on 16 October 2018 following his nomination by SABIC under the terms of 
the governance agreement between Clariant and SABIC and receives a fee of CHF 280,000 per annum in aggregate for board and 
committee roles, in relation to Clariant Limited.

Remuneration Committee
Remuneration Committee membership since 1 January 2018:

Brendan Connolly Chair

Just Jansz

Caroline Johnstone

Holly A. Van Deursen Appointed 1 March 2019

Attendance at Committee meetings is set out on page 64.

Key duties of the Committee
During 2018 the Committee was responsible for determining, in agreement with the Board, the Company’s policy on executive 
remuneration and the specific remuneration for the Chairman and each of the executive directors, including pension rights, within the 
terms of the agreed policy. The Committee was also responsible for reviewing the remuneration of senior executives throughout the 
Group. Following the coming into force of the 2018 Governance Code with effect from 1 January 2019 the Committee has agreed the 
expansion of its remit with the Board to include: 

++ Formal responsibility for all senior management remuneration; and 
++ The review of remuneration elsewhere in the Group.

Advisers
The Chief Executive Officer, Company Secretary, President – Global HR and Group HR Director are invited to attend Committee meetings 
to contribute to the Committee in its deliberations. However, no individual is involved in discussions, or is part of any decisions, relating to 
their own remuneration.

The Committee received independent advice from Deloitte LLP (Deloitte) who were appointed as the Committee’s independent 
remuneration advisers in April 2013. 

During the year, Deloitte provided advice on governance and market trends and other remuneration matters that materially assisted the 
Committee. The fees paid to Deloitte in respect of this work were charged on a time and expenses basis and totalled £8,900 for advice in 
2018. Deloitte also provided tax services to part of the Group in the year. The Committee was satisfied that this did not compromise the 
independence of the advice received.

Deloitte is a founding member of the Remuneration Consultants Group, and adheres to its code of conduct. Deloitte was appointed 
directly by the Committee, and the Committee is satisfied that the advice received was objective and independent.

Statement of voting at general meeting
The table below sets out the results of the votes on the Directors’ remuneration at the 2018 AGM. 

Votes for Votes against Votes withheld

Member Number % of vote Number % of vote Number

2017 Annual Report on Remuneration 258,404,499 97 8,304,976 3 109,980

By order of the Board

R Atkinson
Company Secretary
4 March 2019

Directors’ Remuneration report continued
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The Directors submit their Annual Report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018. The 
Report of the Directors comprises pages 89 to 91 and the following sections of the Annual Report which are incorporated by reference:

Item Location in Annual Report

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities Page 92

Financial instruments and financial risk management Financial Statements – note 23

Present membership of the Board Pages 60 to 61

Corporate Governance Report Pages 62 to 66

Strategic Report (including principal activities and principal risks  
and uncertainties and Viability Statement) Pages 2 to 57

Directors’ Remuneration Report Pages 73 to 88

Share capital Financial Statements – note 28

Sustainability Report Pages 44 to 57

Results and dividends
The profit attributable to shareholders for the year was £99.8m. The interim dividend of 4.0 pence per share was paid on 6 November 
2018. The Directors recommend a final ordinary dividend of 9.1 pence per share payable on 5 July 2019 to those shareholders registered 
at the close of business on 7 June 2019. A dividend reinvestment plan is available to shareholders and this alternative will continue to be 
offered until further notice.

Acquisitions and Disposals 
On 1 January 2018, the Group sold Synthomer Leuna GmbH. and on 28 June 2018 the Group disposed of 51% of its sales entities in 
Dubai. On 31 January 2018 the Group completed the purchase of the BASF Pischelsdorf SBR business and assets. Further details of 
these transactions are contained in notes 32 and 31 respectively to the consolidated financial statements. 

Directors
All the Directors will retire and will be seeking election or re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

None of the Directors seeking re-election has a service contract other than C G MacLean and S G Bennett who each have a service 
contract which contains a twelve month notice period. 

Director indemnity provisions
Under the Company’s Articles of Association, the Directors of the Company have the benefit of a qualifying third-party indemnity 
provision which provides that they shall be indemnified by the Company against certain liabilities as permitted by Sections 232 and 234 of 
the Companies Act 2006 and against costs incurred by them in relation to any liability for which they are indemnified. The Company has 
purchased and maintains insurance against directors’ and officers’ liabilities in relation to the Company.

Share capital and control
During 2018 no shares were issued or repurchased. A total of 160,756 shares were purchased on the open market on behalf of the 
shareholders who elected to participate in the dividend reinvestment plan.

The rights and obligations attaching to the Company’s ordinary shares, being the only class of issued share capital, as well as the powers 
of the Company’s directors, are set out in the Company’s Articles of Association, copies of which can be obtained from Companies 
House or can be downloaded from the Company’s website. There are no restrictions on the voting rights attaching to the Company’s 
ordinary shares or on the transfer of securities in the Company. No person holds securities in the Company carrying special rights with 
regard to the control of the Company. The Company is not aware of any agreements between holders of securities that may result in 
restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting rights. Unless expressly specified to the contrary in the Articles of Association of the 
Company, the Company’s Articles of Association may be amended by special resolution of the Company’s shareholders.

Other than in relation to its borrowings which, unless certain conditions are satisfied, become repayable on a takeover, the Company is 
not party to any significant agreements that would take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control following a takeover bid. The 
Company does not have agreements with any director or employee that would provide compensation for loss of office or employment 
resulting from a takeover.

All of the Company’s share schemes contain provisions relating to a change of control. Outstanding options and awards would normally 
vest and become exercisable on a change of control, subject to the satisfaction of any performance conditions at that time.

Report of the Directors
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Major shareholdings
Other than the shareholdings disclosed as Directors’ interests in the Directors’ remuneration report as at 15 February 2019, the Company 
had been notified under Section 5 of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the UK Listing Authority of the following significant 
holdings of voting rights in its ordinary shares:

Ordinary shares 
(number)

Percentage of ordinary 
shares in issue Nature of holding

Kuala Lumpur Kepong Berhad Group 66,879,401 19.68 Direct interest

Merian Global Investors (UK) Limited 25,096,134 7.38 Indirect interest

Standard Life Aberdeen plc 19,659,714 5.78 Indirect interest

Kames Capital Plc 13,403,772 3.94 Direct and indirect interest

Employment policies and employee involvement
The Group gives every consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons. Employees who become disabled are 
given every opportunity to continue employment under normal terms and conditions with appropriate training, career development and 
promotion wherever possible. The Group seeks to achieve equal opportunities in employment through recruitment and training policies.

The Group encourages employee involvement in its affairs and makes use of an intranet system to promote such involvement and to aid 
communication with employees. Regional management conferences are held annually to bring senior management together to share 
ideas and develop policy, values and behaviours. Dialogue takes place regularly with employees to make them aware of the financial and 
economic factors affecting the performance of the Group. Performance related bonus schemes are in operation throughout the Group. 

Authority to purchase own shares
The Company has a general authority, which expires at the conclusion of the 2019 Annual General Meeting, to make market purchases 
of not more than 33,988,076 of the Company’s ordinary shares in accordance with the terms of the special resolution passed at the 2018 
Annual General Meeting. A resolution will be tabled at the 2019 Annual General Meeting to renew this authority.

Political donations
No political donations were made in the year.

UK pension funds
The Trustees have reviewed the independent investment management of the assets of the Company pension schemes in the UK and 
assured themselves of the security and controls in place. In particular, it is the Trustees’ policy not to invest in Synthomer plc shares nor 
lend money to the Company.

Subsidiaries
All the Group’s subsidiaries, joint ventures and related undertakings are listed on page 154 to 156.

Statement as to disclosure of information to auditor
Each Director of the Company confirms that, so far as he or she is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s 
auditor is unaware and that he or she has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself 
or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information. For these 
purposes, relevant audit information means information needed by the Company’s auditor in connection with preparing their report on 
pages 93 to 99.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Report of the Directors continued
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Going concern
The directors have acknowledged the latest guidance on going concern and in reaching their conclusions have taken into account 
factors which include the refinancing in July 2018 of the Group’s main borrowing facilities comprising a committed unsecured four-year 
revolving credit facility of €440 million. After making enquiries and taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading performance, 
the directors are satisfied that, at the time of approving the financial statements, it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the financial statements of both the Group and the Company.

Cautionary statement
The purpose of this report is to provide information to the members of the Company. It contains certain forward-looking statements 
with respect to the operations, performance and financial condition of the Group. By their nature, these statements involve uncertainty 
since future events and circumstances can cause results and developments to differ materially from those anticipated. The forward-
looking statements reflect knowledge and information available at the date of preparation of this report and the Company undertakes no 
obligation to update these forward-looking statements. Nothing in this report should be construed as a profit forecast.

Independent auditors
A resolution to appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Company’s auditor will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held at the offices of Canaccord Genuity Limited, 88 Wood Street, London EC2V 7QR  
on 25 April 2019 at 10.00am.

By order of the Board

R Atkinson
Company Secretary
4 March 2019
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have prepared 
the Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European 
Union and Company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework, and applicable law). Under company law the directors 
must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group 
and Company and of the profit or loss of the Group and Company for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are 
required to:

++ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

++ state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have been followed for the Group financial statements and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101, have been followed for the Company financial statements, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

++ make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

++ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and Company will 
continue in business.

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Company and enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the 
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing 
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ confirmations
The directors consider that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the 
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group and Company’s position and performance, business model and strategy.

Each of the directors, whose names and functions are listed in the Report of the Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge:

++ the Company financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework, and applicable law), give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Company;

++ the Group financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group; and

++ the Report of the Directors includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Group 
and Company, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces. 

By order of the Board

C G MacLean		  S G Bennett
Chief Executive Officer 	 Chief Financial Officer

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
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Independent auditors’ report
to the members of Synthomer plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion:

++ Synthomer plc’s group financial statements and company financial statements (the “financial statements”) give a true and fair view of  
the state of the group’s and of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of the group’s profit and cash flows for the year  
then ended;

++ the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 
adopted by the European Union;

++ the company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law); and

++ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the group 
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: the consolidated and company balance 
sheet as at 31 December 2018; the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the 
consolidated cash flow statement, and the consolidated and company statements of changes in equity for the year then ended; and the 
notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 
in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to 
the group or the company.

Other than those disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit services to the group or the company in the 
period from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018.

Group financial statements
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Group financial statements

Independent auditors’ report continued
to the members of Synthomer plc

Our audit approach
Overview

Materiality

Audit
scoping

Areas of
focus

++ Overall group materiality: £6.75 million (2017: £6.5 million), based on 5% of underlying profit before taxation.
++ Overall company materiality: £5.5 million (2017: £5.0 million), based on 2% of total assets.

++ Audit procedures provide coverage of 86% of revenue, 87% of operating profit and 90% of underlying 
operating profit.

++ Audit scope covers nine countries, performing procedures over 14 entities
++ Financially significant components in the UK, Germany and Malaysia

++ Valuation of Defined Benefit Pension Schemes.
++ Accounting for the acquisition of Pischelsdorf.
++ Provisions for Uncertain Tax Positions.

The scope of our audit
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. In 
particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates that 
involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain.

Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud
Based on our understanding of the group/industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations related 
to breaches of environmental, health and safety and compliance regulations, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might 
have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial 
statements such as the Companies Act 2006, the Listing Rules, Pensions legislation, UK tax legislation, UK environmental regulations and 
the EU registration, evaluation, authorisation and restriction of chemicals regulations and equivalent local laws and regulations applicable to 
significant component teams. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial 
statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate journal 
entries to increase revenue or reduce expenditure, and management bias in accounting estimates. The group engagement team shared this 
risk assessment with the component auditors referred to in the scoping section of our report below, so that they could include appropriate 
audit procedures in response to such risks in their work. Audit procedures performed by the group engagement team and/or component 
auditors included:

++ Discussions with management and internal audit, including consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws 
and regulation and fraud;

++ Evaluation of management’s controls designed to prevent and detect irregularities;

++ Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant accounting estimates, in particular in relation to 
uncertain tax provisions and accounting for the acquisition of Pischelsdorf (see related key audit matters below);

++ Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted with unusual account combinations or posted by  
senior management.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations 
is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we would become aware of it. Also, the risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.

We did not identify any key audit matters relating to irregularities, including fraud. As in all of our audits we also addressed the risk of 
management override of internal controls, including testing journals and evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that 
represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.
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Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) 
identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; 
and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of Defined Benefit Pension Schemes
As set out in Note 26 on page 133 the Group has significant 
defined benefit pension schemes. These primarily represent the 
Yule Catto Group retirement benefits scheme in the UK and an 
unfunded scheme in Germany, which account for £53.2 million 
and £69.1 million, respectively, of the net pension deficit of £132.5 
million recorded on the Group balance sheet at the year end. We 
focused on the pension liabilities in particular, as the amounts 
reflected in the financial statements for defined benefits schemes 
are sensitive to relatively small changes in a few key assumptions 
such as the inflation rate, mortality tables and most notably, the 
discount rate applied. The Group uses third party actuaries to 
calculate the amounts to reflect in the financial statements in 
respect of these schemes and it is accordingly important for us to 
assess the work they perform and their competency to undertake 
the work in order to conclude on the results of their work.

We obtained external actuarial reports of the UK and German 
schemes which set out the calculations and assumptions 
underpinning the year end pension scheme valuation. We read these 
reports and were satisfied that the scope of their work was such that 
we could use this work to provide evidence for the purpose of our 
audit. We assessed the competency and objectivity of the external 
actuaries commissioned by the Group to perform the year end 
calculations by considering their technical expertise and 
independence from the Group. We identified no concerns over their 
competency or objectivity. We used our own specialist actuarial 
knowledge to evaluate all the key assumptions used in each of the two 
schemes by comparing these assumptions to our expectations for 
similar schemes as at the year end. We found management’s 
assumptions to be within an acceptable range.

Accounting for the acquisition of Pischelsdorf
On 31 January 2018 the Group completed the acquisition  
of the BASF Pischelsdorf Styrene Butadiene Rubber business 
(Pischelsdorf) for consideration of £25.8 million, as described in 
note 31.

IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” (“IFRS 3”) requires that all assets 
and liabilities acquired in the business combination are recorded 
at fair values on acquisition. Judgement is required in identifying 
and valuing all the assets and liabilities acquired, in particular 
intangible assets which are recognised on acquisition.

Intangible assets totalling £17.6 million were identified relating to 
customer relationships, a licensing agreement and a beneficial 
lease. The key judgements were in determining an appropriate 
methodology to value these assets and appropriate assumptions, 
including forecast revenue and profit, discount rate and rates of 
obsolescence to determine their fair values.

We evaluated the process used by management to identify and  
value the assets and liabilities acquired. We assessed the assets  
and liabilities acquired and the fair value adjustments applied.  
The fair value adjustments were considered appropriate.

We considered the Directors’ process for identifying the intangible 
assets acquired, considering the rationale for the acquisition and the 
nature of the Pischelsdorf business. Using our valuation specialists, we 
assessed the valuation methodology used by the Directors in valuing 
the identified assets. We evaluated the forecasts and data used and 
the key assumptions made.

We were satisfied that the fair values of the intangible assets were 
supportable, and that the assumptions used in valuing the assets  
were within an acceptable range.

Provisions for Uncertain Tax Positions
The Group has a wide geographic footprint and is subject to a 
range of tax laws in a number of different tax jurisdictions. In 
determining the amount to record at the year-end for tax liabilities 
there is an element of judgement as to what amounts will 
ultimately be payable for assessed tax exposures. As set out in 
Note 10 at 31 December 2018, the Group has recorded current 
tax liabilities totalling £38.3 million. A significant element of this 
tax liability relates to uncertain tax positions. We focused on this 
area due to the size of the amounts involved and level of 
judgement needed to determine the estimated provisions.

We used our tax specialists to assess the level of provisions held 
against various tax exposures and to consider the appropriateness of 
any provisions. In our assessment we had regard to the nature of the 
individual exposures, including their origin, and any developments in 
the year to assess the rationale for their continued validity at the 
current year end. As part of this work we inspected correspondence 
with tax authorities and the Group’s tax advisors. We challenged the 
judgements made by assessing individual provisions against our 
expectations of potential exposures, having regard to the facts of  
each case. No significant issues arose from this work to suggest that 
the judgements made and amounts recorded were inappropriate.

We determined that there were no key audit matters applicable to the company to communicate in our report.
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Group financial statements

Independent auditors’ report continued
to the members of Synthomer plc

How we tailored the audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements as a 
whole, taking into account the structure of the group and the company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which 
they operate.

As set out on the inside front cover the Group reports its results as two segments: ‘Europe and North America’ and ‘Asia and the Rest of 
the World’. The Group financial statements are a consolidation of reporting units, being holding companies, intermediate holding companies 
and operating companies, across 21 countries. Three countries, being the UK, Germany and Malaysia, account for the majority for the 
Group’s results. We accordingly focused our work on three of the reporting units in these countries, which were subject to audits of their 
complete financial information. In addition, to increase our coverage of the Group’s revenues and underlying profit before tax we performed 
audit procedures at an additional 11 reporting units located in the UK, Italy, Belgium, Germany, Malaysia, America, Finland, Austria and the 
Czech Republic. These components accounted for 86% of the Group’s revenue, 87% of the Group’s operating profit and 90% of the 
Group’s underlying operating profit.

Where work was performed by component auditors, we determined the level of involvement we needed to have in the audit work at those 
reporting units to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the 
Group financial statements as a whole. The key reporting units in the UK, Germany and Malaysia were visited by senior members of the 
Group team during the audit.

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, together 
with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on 
the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate 
on the financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements Company financial statements

Overall materiality £6.75 million (2017: £6.5 million). £5.5 million (2017: £5.0 million).

How we determined it 5% of underlying profit before taxation. 2% of total assets.

Rationale for benchmark applied We believe that underlying profit before tax, 
being profit before tax adjusted for special 
items, is the principal metric against which 
the Group’s financial performance is 
measured in the Chairman’s and CEO’s 
statements within the Annual Report.

We believe that total assets is the primary 
measure used by the shareholders in 
assessing the performance of the company, 
and is a generally accepted benchmark. This 
has been capped at a level below that of the 
group materiality.

For each component in the scope of our group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall group materiality. The range of 
materiality allocated across components was between £450,000 and £5.5 million. Certain components were audited to a local statutory 
audit materiality that was also less than our overall group materiality.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above £337,000 (Group audit) 
(2017: £325,000) and £337,000 (Company audit) (2017: £325,000) as well as misstatements below those amounts that, in our view, 
warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.
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Going concern
In accordance with ISAs (UK) we report as follows:

Reporting obligation 
We are required to report if we have anything material to add or draw 
attention to in respect of the directors’ statement in the financial 
statements about whether the directors considered it appropriate to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the 
financial statements and the directors’ identification of any material 
uncertainties to the group’s and the company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern over a period of at least twelve months from the 
date of approval of the financial statements.

Outcome 
We have nothing material to add or to draw attention to.

As not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this 
statement is not a guarantee as to the Group’s and Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. For example, the terms on which the 
United Kingdom may withdraw from the European Union, which is 
currently due to occur on 29 March 2019, are not clear, and it is 
difficult to evaluate all of the potential implications on the Group’s and 
Company’s trade, customers, suppliers and the wider economy. 

We are required to report if the directors’ statement relating to Going 
Concern in accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3) is materially 
inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit.

We have nothing to report.

Reporting on other information
The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report 
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report,  
any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures 
to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies Act 
2006 have been included.

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 (CA06), ISAs 
(UK) and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) require us also to report certain opinions and matters as described 
below (required by ISAs (UK) unless otherwise stated).
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Group financial statements

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report 
for the year ended 31 December 2018 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable 
legal requirements. (CA06)

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did 
not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report. (CA06)

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the group and of the principal risks that would threaten the solvency or liquidity of the group
We have nothing material to add or draw attention to regarding:

++ The directors’ confirmation on page 70 of the Annual Report that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing 
the group, including those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity.

++ The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks and explain how they are being managed or mitigated.
++ The directors’ explanation on page 37 of the Annual Report as to how they have assessed the prospects of the group, over what period 
they have done so and why they consider that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a reasonable 
expectation that the group will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, 
including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

We have nothing to report having performed a review of the directors’ statement that they have carried out a robust assessment of the 
principal risks facing the group and statement in relation to the longer-term viability of the group. Our review was substantially less in scope 
than an audit and only consisted of making inquiries and considering the directors’ process supporting their statements; checking that the 
statements are in alignment with the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”); and considering whether the 
statements are consistent with the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the course 
of the audit. (Listing Rules)

Other Code Provisions
We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility to report when:

++ The statement given by the directors, on page 92, that they consider the Annual Report taken as a whole to be fair, balanced and 
understandable, and provides the information necessary for the members to assess the group’s and company’s position and 
performance, business model and strategy is materially inconsistent with our knowledge of the group and company obtained in the 
course of performing our audit.

++ The section of the Annual Report on page 69 describing the work of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters 
communicated by us to the Audit Committee.

++ The directors’ statement relating to the company’s compliance with the Code does not properly disclose a departure from a relevant 
provision of the Code specified, under the Listing Rules, for review by the auditors.

Directors’ Remuneration
In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 2006. (CA06)

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also 
responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the company’s ability to continue as  
a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless  
the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Independent auditors’ report continued
to the members of Synthomer plc
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Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at:  
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of 
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any 
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our 
prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

++ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

++ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by us; or

++ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

++ the company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Appointment
Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the directors on 12 July 2012 to audit the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2012 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is 7 years, covering 
the years ended 31 December 2012 to 31 December 2018.

Matthew Mullins (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
4 March 2019
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Group financial statements

 2018  2017

 Note

Underlying
performance

 £m

Special
 Items 

£m
IFRS
 £m

Underlying 
performance

£m

Special
 Items 

£m
IFRS
 £m

Continuing operations   

Revenue 1,618.9 – 1,618.9 1,480.2 – 1,480.2

Company and subsidiaries before Special Items 141.7 – 141.7 138.0 – 138.0

Restructuring and site closure  3 – (12.2) (12.2) – (11.6) (11.6)

Sale of business  3 – 3.8 3.8 – – –

Sale of land  3 – 16.4 16.4 – 1.3 1.3

Acquisition costs  3 – (0.5) (0.5) – (2.3) (2.3)

Amortisation of acquired intangibles  3 – (16.4) (16.4) – (31.0) (31.0)

Aborted bond costs 3 – (1.7) (1.7) – – –

UK Guaranteed Minimum Pension equalisation 3 – (2.8) (2.8) – – –

Company and subsidiaries 141.7 (13.4) 128.3 138.0 (43.6) 94.4

Share of joint ventures  19 0.4 – 0.4 1.0 – 1.0

Operating profit/(loss)  7 142.1 (13.4) 128.7 139.0 (43.6) 95.4

Interest payable  9 (4.9) – (4.9) (5.7) – (5.7)

Interest receivable  9 1.1 – 1.1 1.0 – 1.0

Fair value of unhedged interest derivatives 3 – (1.4) (1.4) – – –

(3.8) (1.4) (5.2) (4.7) – (4.7)

IAS 19 interest charge 9 (3.2) – (3.2) (4.3) – (4.3)

Finance costs (7.0) (1.4) (8.4) (9.0) – (9.0)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 135.1 (14.8) 120.3 130.0 (43.6) 86.4

Taxation  10 (23.0) 6.0 (17.0) (24.7) 13.1 (11.6)

Profit/(loss) for the year 112.1 (8.8) 103.3 105.3 (30.5) 74.8

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 0.5 3.0 3.5 0.8 – 0.8

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the parent 111.6 (11.8) 99.8 104.5 (30.5) 74.0

112.1 (8.8) 103.3 105.3 (30.5) 74.8

Earnings/(loss) per share 

 – Basic 13 32.8p (3.4)p 29.4p 30.7p (8.9)p 21.8p

 – Diluted 13 32.7p (3.5)p 29.2p 30.5p (8.9)p 21.6p

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2018

 2018  2017

 Note

Equity 
holders of 
the parent 

£m

Non-
controlling 

interests 
£m

Total 
£m

Equity
 holders of 
the parent

 £m

Non-
controlling 

interests
 £m

Total 
£m

Profit for the year  99.8 3.5 103.3 74.0 0.8 74.8

Actuarial gains  26 15.5 – 15.5 23.6 – 23.6

Tax relating to components of other comprehensive income  10 (2.3) – (2.3) 2.3 – 2.3

Total items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  13.2 – 13.2 25.9 – 25.9

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  16.9 0.8 17.7 9.2 – 9.2

Exchange differences recycled on sale of business  (0.4) – (0.4) – – –

Fair value of hedged interest derivatives (3.9) – (3.9) – – –

Losses on a hedge of a net investment taken to equity  (3.2) – (3.2) (7.8) – (7.8)

Total items that may be reclassified subsequently  
to profit or loss  9.4 0.8 10.2 1.4 – 1.4

Other comprehensive income for the year  22.6 0.8 23.4 27.3 – 27.3

Total comprehensive income for the year  122.4 4.3 126.7 101.3 0.8 102.1

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2018

100 Synthomer plc Annual Report 2018



Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Note

Share
 capital 

£m

Share 
premium

 £m

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 
£m

Hedging 
and 

translation 
reserve

 £m

Retained 
earnings 

£m
Total 

£m

Non-
controlling 

interests
£m

Total 
equity 

£m

At 1 January 2018 34.0 230.5 0.9 (3.0) 125.5 387.9 18.3 406.2

Profit for the year – – – – 99.8 99.8 3.5 103.3

Actuarial gains 26 – – – – 15.5 15.5 – 15.5

Exchange differences on 
translation of foreign operations – – – 16.9 – 16.9 0.8 17.7

Exchange differences recycled on 
sale of business – – – (0.4) – (0.4) – (0.4)

Fair value of hedged interest 
derivatives – – – (3.9) – (3.9) – (3.9)

Loss on a hedge of a net 
investment taken to equity – – – (3.2) – (3.2) – (3.2)

Tax relating to components of 
other comprehensive income 10 – – – – (2.3) (2.3) – (2.3)

Total comprehensive  
income for the year – – – 9.4 113.0 122.4 4.3 126.7

Dividends paid to shareholders 12 – – – – (42.5) (42.5) – (42.5)

Dividends paid to  
non-controlling interests – – – – – – (1.5) (1.5)

Share-based payments – – – – (3.9) (3.9) – (3.9)

At 31 December 2018 34.0 230.5 0.9 6.4 192.1 463.9 21.1 485.0

Note

Share
 capital 

£m

Share 
premium

 £m

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 
£m

Hedging 
and 

translation 
reserve

 £m

Retained 
earnings 

£m
Total 

£m

Non-
controlling 

interests
£m

Total 
equity 

£m

At 1 January 2017 34.0 230.5 0.9 (4.4) 65.2 326.2 18.0 344.2

Profit for the year – – – – 74.0 74.0 0.8 74.8

Actuarial gains 26 – – – – 23.6 23.6 – 23.6

Exchange differences on 
translation of foreign operations – – – 9.2 – 9.2 – 9.2

Loss on a hedge of a net 
investment taken to equity – – – (7.8) – (7.8) – (7.8)

Tax relating to components of 
other comprehensive income 10 – – – – 2.3 2.3 – 2.3

Total comprehensive  
income for the year – – – 1.4 99.9 101.3 0.8 102.1

Dividends paid to shareholders 12 – – – – (39.1) (39.1) – (39.1)

Dividends paid to  
non-controlling interests – – – – – – (0.5) (0.5)

Share-based payments – – – – (0.5) (0.5) – (0.5)

At 31 December 2017 34.0 230.5 0.9 (3.0) 125.5 387.9 18.3 406.2

G
overnance �

58
-92

S
trateg

ic rep
o

rt �
IFC

-57

G
ro

u
p

 fin
a

n
c

ia
l sta

te
m

e
n

ts�
93

-14
4

O
ther info

rm
atio

n�
157-16

0
C

o
m

p
any financial statem

ents�
145

-156

Synthomer plc Annual Report 2018 101



Group financial statements

Note
2018 

£m
2017 

£m

Non-current assets

Goodwill 15 336.5 329.1

Acquired intangible assets 16 69.1 66.2

Other intangible assets 17 5.1 1.9

Property, plant and equipment 18 370.0 322.1

Deferred tax assets 11 23.4 23.3

Investment in joint ventures 19 8.6 7.5

Total non-current assets 812.7 750.1

Current assets

Inventories 20 141.9 125.1

Trade and other receivables 21 232.9 229.1

Cash and cash equivalents 22 96.9 89.6

Total current assets 471.7 443.8

Assets classified as held for sale 24 – 6.8

Total assets 1,284.4 1,200.7

Current liabilities

Borrowings 22 (70.1) (73.1)

Trade and other payables 25 (263.2) (279.3)

Current tax liability 10 (38.3) (40.2)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges 27 (9.4) (2.4)

Derivatives at fair value 23 (5.3) –

Total current liabilities (386.3) (395.0)

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 22 (240.8) (197.0)

Trade and other payables 25 (0.7) (2.3)

Deferred tax liability 11 (34.3) (35.4)

Post retirement benefit obligations 26 (132.5) (157.2)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges 27 (4.8) (7.6)

Total non-current liabilities (413.1) (399.5)

Net assets 485.0 406.2

Equity 

Called up share capital 28 34.0 34.0

Share premium 230.5 230.5

Capital redemption reserve 0.9 0.9

Hedging and translation reserve 6.4 (3.0)

Retained earnings 192.1 125.5

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 463.9 387.9

Non-controlling interests 21.1 18.3

Total equity 485.0 406.2

The financial statements on pages 100 to 144 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 4 March 2019. They are 
signed on its behalf by:

C G MacLean	 S G Bennett
Director	 Director

Consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 December 2018
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2018 2017

Note £m £m £m £m

Operating

Cash generated from operations 29 124.9 162.6

Interest received 1.1 1.0

Interest paid (5.6) (5.8)

Net interest paid (4.5) (4.8)

UK corporation tax paid – –

Overseas corporate tax paid (23.0) (26.1)

Total tax paid (23.0) (26.1)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 97.4 131.7

Investing 

Dividends received from joint ventures 19 1.1 2.0

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (75.7) (60.3)

Sale of property, plant and equipment 17.5 2.2

Net capital expenditure (58.2) (58.1)

Purchase of business 31 (25.8) (64.1)

Proceeds from sale of business 32 3.7 7.6

Net cash outflow from investing activities (79.2) (112.6)

Financing

Ordinary dividends paid 12 (42.5) (39.1)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (1.5) (0.5)

Settlement of equity-settled share-based payments (5.4) (3.1)

Repayment of borrowings 30 (63.5) (102.0)

Proceeds of borrowings 30 103.9 136.3

Net cash outflow from financing activities (9.0) (8.4)

Increase in cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts during the year 9.2 10.7

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at 1 January 30 65.4 52.0

Cash (outflows)/inflows

Cash and cash equivalents 30 5.6 (28.5)

Bank overdrafts 30 3.6 39.2

9.2 10.7

Foreign exchange and other movements 30 1.6 2.7

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at 31 December 30 76.2 65.4

Reconciliation of net cash flow from operating activities to movement in net borrowings

Note
2018
 £m

2017
 £m

Net cash inflow from operating activities 97.4 131.7

Add back: dividends received from joint ventures 19 1.1 2.0

Less: net capital expenditure (58.2) (58.1)

Less: net purchase of business (22.1) (56.5)

18.2 19.1
Ordinary dividends paid 12 (42.5) (39.1)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (1.5) (0.5)

Settlement of equity-settled share based payments (5.4) (3.1)

Foreign exchange and other movements 30 (2.3) (6.6)

Increase in net borrowings 30 (33.5) (30.2)

Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2018

1  General information
Synthomer plc is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act. The address of the 
registered office is given on page 160. The Company is listed on the London Stock Exchange.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in pounds sterling (functional currency of the parent company). Foreign operations are 
included in accordance with the policies set out in note 2.

New and amended standards adopted by the Group	
The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for the annual reporting period commencing 1 January 2018. 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 replaced IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. It addresses the classification, measurement and  
de-recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities, introduces new rules for hedge accounting and a new impairment model for 
financial assets. This standard is mandatory for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2018. 

The adoption of IFRS 9 did not have a material impact on the amounts recognised in the current period or the prior period and it is not 
expected to significantly impact future periods. The Group has chosen to continue to apply the hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39  
as permitted by the standard.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The IASB issued a new standard for the recognition of revenue which is mandatory for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 
2018. This replaced IAS 18 which covered contracts for goods and services and IAS 11 which covered construction contracts. The new 
standard is based on the principle that revenue is recognised when performance obligations are met and control of goods or services 
transfers to a customer. The standard applies a five step approach to the timing of revenue recognition. 

The adoption of IFRS 15 did not have a material impact on the amounts recognised in the current period or the prior period and it is not 
expected to significantly impact future periods.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the 31 December 2018 reporting 
period and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is 
set out below:

IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. For lessees, it will result in almost all leases being recognised on the balance sheet, as the distinction 
between operating and finance leases is removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the right-to-use the leased item) and a financial 
liability to pay rentals are recognised. The only exceptions are short-term and low-value leases. This standard is mandatory for financial 
years commencing on or after 1 January 2019. 

The standard will primarily affect the accounting for the Group’s operating leases, and the Group has undertaken a review to identify all 
leases in each entity. As at the reporting date, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of £30.4m (see note 34).  
Work has now been carried out to determine the financial impact on adoption of this accounting standard as at 1 January 2019. Using the 
modified retrospective method of adoption the Group expects to recognise right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities of 
approximately £43m. The approximate impact will be an increase to EBITDA of £7m, an increase to depreciation of £6m and an increase to 
interest payable to give a nil impact on profit before taxation in the year ending 31 December 2019.

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material impact on the entity in the current or 
future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

2  Significant accounting policies 
Basis of accounting
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the 
European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU), IFRS Interpretations Committee and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies 
reporting under IFRS. The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of financial 
instruments at fair value through the Income Statement. As discussed in the Report of the Directors on page 91, the financial statements 
have been prepared on a going concern basis. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below and have been consistently 
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company  
(its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved where the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
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The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the effective 
date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those used by the Group.

The results of joint ventures are accounted for using equity accounting.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein.
Non‑controlling interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination (see below) and the 
non-controlling interest’s share of changes in equity since the date of combination.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. 

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable 
assets and liabilities of a subsidiary, associate or joint venture at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is recognised as an asset and reviewed for 
impairment at least annually. Any impairment is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement and is not subsequently reversed. 

Should the fair value of the identifiable assets exceed the cost of acquisition, a “Bargain purchase”, the excess is credited to the income 
statement immediately on acquisition.

For the purpose of impairment testing goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash generating units expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination. Cash generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more 
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than the 
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and 
then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

Should the fair value of the identifiable assets exceed the cost of acquisition, the excess is credited to the income statement immediately 
on acquisition.

On disposal of a subsidiary, associate or joint venture, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or 
loss on disposal.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS has been retained at the previous UK GAAP amounts subject to being 
tested for impairment at that date. Goodwill written off to reserves under UK GAAP prior to 1998 has not been reinstated and is not included 
in determining any subsequent profit or loss on disposal.

Business combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is 
measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of completion) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments 
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquired entity. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in the profit or loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired entity that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 (2008) 
are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

++ deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes;
++ liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 19 Employee Benefits; 
and

++ assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the 
Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during  
the measurement period (see below), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and 
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts as of that date.

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete information about facts and 
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date, and is subject to a maximum of one year.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held investment is 
re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses from such re-measurement are recognised in the income statement.
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Group financial statements

2  Significant accounting policies continued
Acquired intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired through acquisition are measured at their fair value and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives, on the following bases:

Customer relationships	 – between 5 and 15 years
Other intangibles		  – up to 10 years

Assets with an indefinite life are not subject to amortisation.

Where necessary the fair value at acquisition and estimated useful lives for these intangible assets are based on independent valuation reports. 

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets that are not acquired through a business combination are initially measured at cost and amortised on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful lives of between 3 and 5 years.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from the Group’s product development is recognised only if all of the following conditions in 
IAS 38 are met:

++ an asset is created that can be separately identified (such as software and new processes);
++ it is technically feasible to complete the asset;
++ management intends to complete the development;
++ there is an ability to use or sell the asset once development has been completed;
++ it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits;
++ adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development are available; and
++ the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in 
which it is incurred. 

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and any provision for impairment. Cost comprises original 
purchase price and the costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use, including, where appropriate, 
capitalised finance costs. Except for freehold land, which is not depreciated, the cost of property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over its expected useful life as follows:

Freehold buildings	 – 50 years
Leasehold land and buildings	 – the lesser of 50 years and the period of the lease
Plant and equipment	 – between 3 and 10 years

Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until the assets are ready for their intended use.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets excluding goodwill
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its plant, property and equipment and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are 
independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of  
the asset (or cash generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the 
income statement.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

106 Synthomer plc Annual Report 2018



Joint ventures
Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint ventures are initially 
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements in other 
comprehensive income.

Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Group as the lessee are classified as 
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour 
costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated 
using the weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and 
costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. Provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving or defective items where appropriate.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold in the ordinary course of business. They are generally short-term in 
nature and are therefore classified as current assets and their fair value recognised at the consideration due. The carrying value of trade 
receivables are considered to be the same as their fair values, due to their short-term nature. Appropriate allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the income statement based on expected losses

All trade receivables that are factored by third parties are done so on a non-recourse basis. At the point of factoring, the Group forfeits the 
right to future cash flows from these receivables and those amounts are derecognised. The cost of factoring receivables is recognised as a 
finance cost in the period in which the receivable is factored.

Amortised bank borrowings
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, including 
premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accruals basis to the income statement 
using the effective interest method and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the 
period in which they arise.

Trade payables
Trade payables are generally short-term in nature and are therefore classified as current liabilities. They are recognised initially at their fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The carrying value of trade payables are 
considered to be the same as their fair values, due to their short-term nature.

Impairment of financial assets
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its financial assets to determine whether there is any indication that 
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

Finance costs
Finance costs of debt are recognised in the income statement over the term of such instruments at an effective interest rate on the carrying 
amount. Finance costs that are directly attributable to the construction of property, plant and equipment are capitalised as part of the cost 
of those assets in accordance with IAS 23.

G
overnance �

58
-92

S
trateg

ic rep
o

rt �
IFC

-57

G
ro

u
p

 fin
a

n
c

ia
l sta

te
m

e
n

ts�
93

-14
4

O
ther info

rm
atio

n�
157-16

0
C

o
m

p
any financial statem

ents�
145

-156

Synthomer plc Annual Report 2018 107



Group financial statements

2  Significant accounting policies continued
Foreign currencies 
In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency are 
recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities 
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets and 
liabilities carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value 
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

In order to hedge its exposure to certain foreign exchange risks, the Group enters into forward contracts (see below for details of the 
Group’s accounting policies in respect of such derivative financial instruments).

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s overseas operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance 
sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the relevant average exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences arising,  
if any, are classified as equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation differences are recognised in the income 
statement in the period in which the operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and 
translated at the closing rate. The Group elected to treat goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisitions before the date of 
transition to IFRS as sterling-denominated assets and liabilities.

Derivative financial instruments
The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the Board of Directors, which provide written principles on 
the use of financial derivatives, as set out in note 23.

The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk, 
including foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps and foreign currency options.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their  
fair value at each balance sheet date. A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a 
negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the income statement immediately unless 
the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in the income statement 
depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. The Group designates certain derivatives as either hedges of highly probable forecast 
transactions or hedges of foreign currency risk of firm commitments (cash flow hedges), or hedges of net investments in foreign operations.

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain hedging instruments, which include derivatives, embedded derivatives and non-derivatives in respect of 
foreign currency risk as fair value hedges, cash flow hedges or hedges of net investments in foreign operations.

Fair value hedges
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together 
with any changes in the fair value of the hedged assets or liabilities that are attributable to the hedged risk. The Group only applies fair value 
hedge accounting for foreign currency exposure associated with the underlying hedged item. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective 
portion is also recognised in the income statement.

Cash flow hedges
At the inception of the hedge relationship the entity documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along 
with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge 
and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective in 
offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are deferred in equity. 
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Amounts deferred in equity are recycled in the income statement in the periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss, in the 
same line of the income statement as the recognised hedged item. However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the 
recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity 
and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or non-financial liability.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, 
or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that time remains in equity and is 
recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to 
occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018
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Hedges of net investments in foreign operations
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in equity in the foreign currency translation reserve. The gain or loss relating to the 
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks which become fully liquid within three months or less and 
other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement 
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the balance sheet 
liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests 
in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. 
Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which 
case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the 
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Retirement benefit costs
Current and past service costs in respect of the Group's defined benefit pension schemes are charged to the consolidated income 
statement. Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged to the income statement as they fall due. Actuarial 
gains on the defined benefit schemes are recognised in full in each period in which they occur. They are recognised outside of the 
consolidated income statement and are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually using the projected 
unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows 
using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have 
terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation.

The UK defined benefit scheme is funded, with the assets of the scheme held separately from those of the Group, in separate trustee-
administered funds. For the German schemes, the assets are included within the assets of the respective companies, as permitted under 
local laws. The assets of the other overseas schemes are held separately from those of the Group.	
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Group financial statements

2  Significant accounting policies continued
Provisions
Provisions for restructuring costs are recognised when the Group has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring that has been 
communicated to affected parties.

Revenue recognition 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods provided in 
the normal course of business net of discounts, VAT and other sales-related taxes.

Revenue is recognised under the provisions of IFRS 15 when performance obligations are met and control of the goods passes to 
the customer.

Share-based payments
The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 Share-based Payments.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at  
fair value at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a 
straight-line basis over the vesting period. The Group will on occasion, at its own discretion, settle the share-based payments in cash  
rather than equity.

Definitions
Operating profit
Operating profit represents profit from continuing activities before financing costs and taxation. 

EBITDA
EBITDA is calculated as operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and Special Items (as defined below).

Special Items
The following are disclosed separately as Special Items in order to provide a clearer indication of the Group’s underlying performance:

++ Re-structuring and site closure costs;
++ Sale of a business or significant asset;
++ Acquisition costs;
++ Amortisation of acquired intangible assets;
++ Impairment of non-current assets;
++ Fair value adjustment – mark to market adjustments in respect of cross currency and interest rate derivatives used for hedging purposes 
where IAS 39 hedge accounting is not applied;

++ Items of income and expense that are considered material, either by their size and/or nature;
++ Tax impact of above items; and 
++ Settlement of prior period tax issues.

These Special Items are either irregular and therefore including them in the assessment of a segment’s performance would lead to a 
distortion of trends or are technical adjustments which ensure the Group’s financial statements are in compliance with IFRS but do not 
reflect the operating performance of the segment in the year.

Underlying performance 
Underlying performance represents the statutory performance of the Group under IFRS, excluding Special Items.

Net cash/(borrowings)
Net cash/(borrowings) represents cash and cash equivalents less short and long term borrowings, as adjusted for the effect of related 
derivative instruments, irrespective of whether they qualify for hedge accounting, non-recourse factoring arrangements and the inclusion of 
financial assets.

Critical accounting judgements and estimates
The following provides information on those policies that management considers critical because of the level of judgement and estimation 
required which often involves assumptions regarding future events which can vary from what is anticipated. The directors believe that the 
financial statements reflect appropriate judgements and estimates and provide a true and fair view of Synthomer’s performance and 
financial position.

Valuation of goodwill and intangibles on acquisition
Acquired intangibles IFRS 3 (revised) “Business Combinations” requires that goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is capitalised  
and included in intangible assets. IFRS 3 (revised) also requires the identification of other intangible assets at acquisition. The assumptions 
involved in valuing these intangible assets require the use of estimates and judgements, that may differ from the actual outcome. These 
estimates and judgements cover future growth rates, expected inflation rates and the discount rate used. Changing the assumptions  
selected by management could significantly affect the allocation of the purchase price paid between goodwill and other acquired intangibles).

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018
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Post retirement benefit obligations
Included in the actuaries’ calculation of the post retirement benefit obligations are a number of assumptions. Any changes in these 
assumptions will impact the carrying value of the obligations. These are shown in detail in note 26.

Current tax liability and deferred tax
The Group annually incurs significant amounts of income taxes payable to various jurisdictions around the world and it also recognises 
significant changes in deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities, all of which are based on management’s interpretations of applicable 
laws, regulations and relevant court decisions. The quality of these estimates is highly dependent upon management’s ability to properly 
apply what can be very complex sets of rules and to recognise changes in applicable rules. 

3  Special Items
The Special Items are made up as follows:

Note
2018 

£m
2017 

£m

Continuing operations

Restructuring and site closure (12.2) (11.6)

Sale of business 3.8 –

Sale of land 24 16.4 1.3

Acquisition costs  31 (0.5) (2.3)

Amortisation of acquired intangibles 16 (16.4) (31.0)

Aborted bond costs (1.7) –

UK Guaranteed Minimum Pension equalisation (2.8) –

Operating loss (13.4) (43.6)

Finance costs

Fair value of unhedged interest derivatives 9 (1.4) –

Loss before taxation from continuing operations (14.8) (43.6)

Taxation 10 6.0 13.1

Loss for the year from continuing operations (8.8) (30.5)

Restructuring and site closure relates to the natural rubber and polyester resins production lines, in Kluang (Malaysia), which closed in  
Q4 2018, and an increase in the onerous lease and related provisions for the Ossett site due to a change in circumstance relating to the 
subletting of the site. In 2017, it primarily related to the rationalisation of the Ribécourt (France) site and the initial onerous lease provision  
for the Ossett site.

Sale of business relates to the disposal of the Leuna (Germany) site and the disposal of 51% of our sales entities in Dubai. 

Sale of land in 2018 relates to the disposal of the final tranche of Malaysian land at Kluang. The profit on sale of land in 2017 related to a 
disposal of land in Hapton (UK).

Acquisition costs were incurred in relation to BASF Pischelsdorf (2017: BASF Pischelsdorf and Speciality Additives) and for other potential 
acquisitions which will not occur or had not occurred before the balance sheet date. 

Amortisation of acquired intangibles decreased significantly during 2018 due to the full amortisation during the year of the PolymerLatex 
customer relationships acquired during 2011. The amortisation includes £1.4m in respect of intangibles relating to the acquisition of BASF 
Pischelsdorf in 2018. 

Ahead of the Group refinancing during the year, a process was undertaken to issue fixed rate unsecured senior notes. Despite a strong 
response from investors, the Group decided not to complete the transaction due to unfavourable market conditions. The costs of this 
process are not reflective of Underlying performance.

Following a UK High Court ruling during the year in relation to the equalisation of male and female Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (GMP)  
a pension plan amendment is deemed to have occurred. The actuarial estimate of this irregular cost was £2.8m.

As part of the Group refinancing in July 2018 we entered into swap arrangements to fix interest rates on the full value of the €440m 
committed, unsecured revolving credit facility. The fair value of the unhedged derivatives relates to the mark to market of the swap at 
31 December 2018 in excess of the current borrowings of the Group and has been taken through Special Items as it is not reflective  
of the Underlying performance.
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4  Segmental analysis 
The Group's Executive Committee, chaired by the Chief Executive Officer, examines the Group's performance and has identified two 
reportable segments of its business:

Europe and North America (ENA)
These markets are well developed and are typically growing in line with GDP.

Asia and Rest of the World (ARW) 
These markets are characterised by growing at rates generally above GDP coupled with an increased penetration of more sophisticated 
products into wider uses.

The Executive Committee primarily uses a measure of earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) to assess the 
performance of the operating segments. No information is provided to the Committee at the segment level concerning interest income, 
interest expenses, income taxes or other material non-cash items.

No single customer accounts for more than 10% of the Group's revenues.

Analysis by activity – Revenue
2018 

£m
2017 

£m

Europe & North America 1,228.4 1,134.9

Asia & Rest of the World 390.5 345.3

1,618.9 1,480.2

Analysis by activity – Operating Profit 2018 2017

Subsidiaries 
£m

Share of 
joint 

ventures 
£m

Total 
£m

Subsidiaries 
£m

Share of 
joint 

ventures
 £m

Total 
£m

Europe & North America 91.8 – 91.8 77.5 – 77.5

Asia & Rest of the World 54.5 0.4 54.9 30.2 1.0 31.2

Reported segment operating profit 146.3 0.4 146.7 107.7 1.0 108.7

Unallocated corporate expenses (18.0) – (18.0) (13.3) – (13.3)

Operating profit 128.3 0.4 128.7 94.4 1.0 95.4

Analysis by activity 2018

Note

Total 
assets

 £m

Total 
liabilities 

£m

Capital 
expenditure 

£m

Depreciation 
and 

amortisation 
£m

Amortisation
acquired 

intangibles
£m

Subsidiaries

Europe & North America 516.6 (189.6) 61.0 24.6 12.6

Asia & Rest of the World 226.2 (78.4) 16.3 14.0 3.8

742.8 (268.0) 77.3 38.6 16.4

Unallocated assets and liabilities 7.1 (15.4) – 0.3 –

749.9 (283.4) 77.3 38.9 16.4

Share of joint ventures 19 14.0 (5.4)

Goodwill 15 336.5 –

Acquired intangibles and related deferred tax 16 69.1 (13.4)

Current and deferred taxation 23.4 (59.2)

Post retirement benefit obligations 26 – (132.5)

Net borrowings 22 – (214.0)

1,192.9 (707.9)

Net assets 485.0
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2017

Note

Total 
assets

 £m

Total 
liabilities 

£m

Capital 
expenditure 

£m

Depreciation 
and 

amortisation 
£m

Amortisation
acquired 

intangibles
£m

Subsidiaries

Europe & North America 453.9 (205.2) 36.3 23.8 27.3

Asia & Rest of the World 224.6 (71.8) 24.3 13.1 3.7

678.5 (277.0) 60.6 36.9 31.0

Unallocated assets and liabilities 6.5 (14.6) – 0.3 –

685.0 (291.6) 60.6 37.2 31.0

Share of joint ventures 19 10.9 (3.4)

Goodwill 15 329.1 –

Acquired intangibles and related deferred tax 16 66.2 (16.3)

Current and deferred taxation 23.3 (59.3)

Post retirement benefit obligations 26 – (157.2)

Net borrowings 22 – (180.5)

1,114.5 (708.3)

Net assets 406.2

Analysis of total revenue by destination 
2018 

£m
2017

£m

UK 87.0 69.4

Germany 234.5 225.1

Other Western Europe 556.3 483.8

Western Europe 877.8 778.3

Eastern Europe 118.0 102.8

North America 92.4 94.9

Malaysia 260.1 195.3

Other Asia 195.2 228.8

Africa and Middle East 45.7 58.2

Rest of the World 29.7 21.9

1,618.9 1,480.2

Inter-segmental revenue
In addition to the amounts included above, inter-segmental revenue was earned as set out below. This revenue was eliminated on consolidation.

2018 2017

Europe & 
North

 America 
£m

Asia & 
Rest of 

World 
£m

Total
 £m

Europe & 
North 

America 
£m

Asia & 
Rest of 
World 

£m
Total 

£m

Europe & North America – 18.7 18.7 – 16.2 16.2

Asia & Rest of the World 1.1 – 1.1 0.8 – 0.8

Total 1.1 18.7 19.8 0.8 16.2 17.0
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5  Underlying segmental performance
The IFRS profit measures show the performance of the Group as a whole and as such includes all sources of income and expenses, including 
both one-off items and those that do not relate to the Group's ongoing businesses. To provide increased clarity on the ongoing trading 
performance of the Group's businesses, management uses "underlying performance" as an alternative performance measure to plan for, 
control and assess the performance of the segments. Underlying performance differs from the IFRS measures as it excludes Special Items.

The definition of Special Items is shown in note 2 and has been consistently applied. Special Items are either irregular, and therefore 
including them in the assessment of a segment's performance would lead to a distortion of trends, or are technical adjustments which 
ensure the Group's financial statements are in compliance with IFRS but do not reflect the operating performance of the segment in  
the year, or both. An example of the latter is the amortisation of acquired intangibles, which principally relates to acquired customer 
relationships. The Group incurs costs, which are recognised as an expense in the income statement, in maintaining these customer 
relationships. The Group considers that the exclusion of the amortisation charge on acquired intangibles from Underlying performance 
avoids the potential double counting of such costs and therefore excludes it as a Special Item from Underlying performance.

Reconciliation of Underlying performance to IFRS 
2018 2017

Note 

Europe
 & North

 America
£m

Asia & 
Rest of 

World
£m

Unallocated 
corporate 
expenses

£m
Total

£m

Europe 
& North

 America
£m

Asia & 
Rest of 
World

£m

Unallocated 
corporate 
expenses

£m
Total

£m

Revenue 
Underlying performance and 
IFRS 1,228.4 390.5 1,618.9 1,134.9 345.3 1,480.2

Operating profit/(loss) – including  
share of joint ventures

Underlying performance 111.2 45.7 (14.8) 142.1 117.1 35.1 (13.2) 139.0
Special Items

Restructuring & site 
closure costs (6.0) (6.2) – (12.2) (11.3) (0.2) (0.1) (11.6)
Sale of business  1.0 2.8 – 3.8 – – – –
Sale of land – 16.4 – 16.4 1.3 – – 1.3
Acquisition costs  (0.5) – – (0.5) (2.3) – – (2.3)
Amortisation of 
acquired intangibles  (12.6) (3.8) – (16.4) (27.3) (3.7) – (31.0)
Aborted bond costs – – (1.7) (1.7) – – – –
UK Guaranteed 
Minimum Pension 
equalisation (1.3) – (1.5) (2.8) – – – –

(19.4) 9.2 (3.2) (13.4) (39.6) (3.9) (0.1) (43.6)

IFRS 91.8 54.9 (18.0) 128.7 77.5 31.2 (13.3) 95.4

Finance costs 
Underlying performance 9 (7.0) (9.0)
Fair value of unhedged 
interest derivatives 9 (1.4) –
IFRS 9 (8.4) (9.0)

Profit before taxation 
Underlying performance 135.1 130.0
IFRS 120.3 86.4
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2018 2017

Note 

Europe
 & North

 America
£m

Asia & 
Rest of 

World
£m

Unallocated 
corporate 
expenses

£m
Total

£m

Europe 
& North

 America
£m

Asia & 
Rest of 
World

£m

Unallocated 
corporate 
expenses

£m
Total

£m

Taxation 
Underlying performance (23.0) (24.7)
Special Items

Historical issues 10 2.5 –
Purchase and sale 
of business 10 0.1 0.4
Restructuring and 
site closure costs 10 0.2 1.3
Amortisation of 
acquired intangibles 10 3.2 11.4

IFRS 10 (17.0) (11.6)

Profit for the year 
Underlying performance 112.1 105.3
IFRS 103.3 74.8

Profit attributable to 
non-controlling interests 0.5 0.8

Underlying performance
Special Items

Sale of land 4.8 –
Restructuring and site 
closure costs (1.8) –

IFRS 3.5 0.8

Profit attributable to equity 
holders of the parent

Underlying performance 111.6 104.5

IFRS 99.8 74.0

Earnings per share (pence)

Underlying performance 32.8p 30.7p

Special Items (3.4p) (8.9p)

IFRS 13 29.4p 21.8p
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6  EBITDA
The Group uses EBITDA as an alternative performance measure as it provides an indication of the level of cash being generated by the 
business from its trading activities in the period by excluding the depreciation and amortisation charges and Special Items. This is also the 
principal profit measure used for the financial covenants in the Group's debt facilities.

The definition of EBITDA is shown in note 2.

Reconciliation of EBITDA to IFRS
2018 2017

Note

Europe
& North 

America 
£m

Asia & 
Rest of
 World 

£m

Unallocated 
corporate 
expenses

 £m
Total

 £m

Europe
& North 
America 

£m

Asia & 
Rest of
 World 

£m

Unallocated 
corporate 
expenses

 £m
Total
 £m

EBITDA 135.8 59.7 (14.5) 181.0 140.9 48.2 (12.9) 176.2

Depreciation and amortisation 4 (24.6) (14.0) (0.3) (38.9) (23.8) (13.1) (0.3) (37.2)

Operating profit/(loss) – 
Underlying performance 5 111.2 45.7 (14.8) 142.1 117.1 35.1 (13.2) 139.0

Special Items 5 (19.4) 9.2 (3.2) (13.4) (39.6) (3.9) (0.1) (43.6)

Operating profit/(loss) – 
IFRS 5 91.8 54.9 (18.0) 128.7 77.5 31.2 (13.3) 95.4

7  Operating profit
Note

2018
 £m

2017 
£m

Revenue 1,618.9 1,480.2

Cost of sales (1,325.1) (1,195.4)

Gross profit 293.8 284.8

Sales and marketing costs (42.9) (39.1)

Administrative expenses (70.3) (70.5)

Share of joint ventures 19 0.4 1.0

EBITDA 181.0 176.2

Depreciation and amortisation – Underlying performance (38.9) (37.2)

Operating profit – Underlying performance 142.1 139.0

Special Items (13.4) (43.6)

Operating profit – IFRS 128.7 95.4

Note
2018
 £m

2017
 £m

Operating profit is stated after charging the following:

Amortisation: acquired intangibles 16 16.4 31.0

Amortisation: other intangibles 17 1.1 0.8

Depreciation 18 37.8 36.4

Hire of plant and equipment 6.8 4.2

Other lease rentals 3.6 3.1

Research and development expenditure 17.1 18.3
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8  Auditors’ remuneration
2018 

£’000
2017 

£’000

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for:

audit of the Company’s annual financial statements and the consolidated annual financial statements 142 139

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and their associates for other services to the Group:

audit of the Company’s subsidiaries’ annual financial statements 750 661

Total audit fees 892 800

Audit related assurance services 22 33

Other assurance services 95 –

Other taxation advisory services 3 24

Total non-audit fees 120 57

Details of the Company’s policy on the use of auditor for non-audit services, the reasons why the auditors were used rather than another 
supplier and how the auditors' independence and objectivity was safeguarded are set out in the Audit Committee section of the Corporate 
Governance Report on page 71. No services were provided pursuant to contingent fee arrangements.

9  Finance costs
2018 

£m
2017
 £m

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts 4.9 5.7

Less: interest receivable (1.1) (1.0)

3.8 4.7

Pensions – IAS 19 interest charge 3.2 4.3

Net interest payable 7.0 9.0

Fair value of unhedged interest derivatives 1.4 –

Total finance costs 8.4 9.0

The fair value of the unhedged derivatives relates to the mark to market of the swap arrangements at 31 December 2018 in excess of the 
current borrowings of the Group. This has been taken through Special Items as it is not reflective of the Underlying performance.

10  Taxation
2018 

£m
2017
 £m

Current tax

UK corporation tax 0.1 –

Overseas tax 23.8 27.1

23.9 27.1

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (0.9) (2.4)

23.0 24.7

Special Items

Current tax:

Historical issues (2.5) –

Purchase and sale of business (0.1) (0.4)

Restructuring and site closure costs – (0.3)

Deferred tax:

Restructuring and site closure costs (0.2) (1.0)

Amortisation of acquired intangibles (3.2) (11.4)

(6.0) (13.1)

Total tax on profit before taxation 17.0 11.6

UK corporation tax is calculated at 19.0% (2017: 19.25%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is 
calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.
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10  Taxation continued
Reconciliation of tax expense to profit before taxation
The differences between the total tax expense shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate of UK corporation 
tax to the profit before tax is as follows.

2018
 £m

2017
 £m

Profit before taxation 120.3 86.4

Tax on profit before taxation at standard UK corporation tax rate of 19.0% (2017: 19.25%) 22.9 16.6

Effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 4.8 4.3

Tax incentives and items not subject to tax (11.8) (8.7)

Higher tax rates on overseas earnings 6.8 5.3

Other deferred tax asset not recognised less amounts now recognised (3.2) (1.5)

Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior periods (2.4) (0.1)

Effect of change of rate on deferred tax (0.1) (4.3)

Tax charge for year 17.0 11.6

Tax relating to components of other comprehensive income
2018
 £m

2017
 £m

Deferred tax (charge)/credit in respect of actuarial gains (2.3) 2.3 

Current tax liabilities
2018
 £m

2017
 £m

Current tax liabilities (38.3) (40.2)

Tax incentives and items not subject to tax mainly comprise profits from the Nitrile latex business in Malaysia, which benefits from pioneer 
status until 28 February 2020, income in relation to the sale of land which is not subject to corporate tax in Malaysia and exemptions from 
capital gains tax available on profits on sale of businesses in Dubai and Germany.

In October 2017 the European Commission opened a state aid investigation into the Group Financing Exemption in the UK controlled 
foreign company legislation. In common with other UK-based international companies, the Group may be affected by the outcome of this 
investigation and is therefore monitoring developments. If the preliminary findings of the European Commission's investigations into the UK 
legislation are upheld, we have estimated the Group's potential liability to be £5.8m. Based on the current status of the investigation, we 
have concluded that no provision is required in relation to this amount.

11  Deferred taxation
Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of all tax losses and other temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets to 
the extent that it is probable that these assets will be recovered. 

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are shown below.

Deferred tax liabilities
2018

Accelerated 
tax

 depreciation
 £m 

Acquired
 intangibles

 £m
Other

 £m
Total 

£m

At 1 January (17.7) (16.3) (1.4) (35.4)

(Charged)/credited to income statement (0.4) 3.2 (0.7) 2.1

Exchange adjustment (0.6) (0.3) (0.1) (1.0)

At 31 December (18.7) (13.4) (2.2) (34.3)
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Deferred tax assets
2018

Pension 
£m

Other
 £m

Total 
£m

At 1 January 18.9 4.4 23.3

Credited to income statement 1.0 1.2 2.2

Charged to statement of other comprehensive income (2.3) – (2.3)

Exchange adjustment 0.1 0.1 0.2

At 31 December 17.7 5.7 23.4

Deferred tax assets not recognised 
The amounts of deferred tax not recognised at the balance sheet dates are as follows:

2018 
£m

2017
 £m

UK pension liability 5.2 7.0

Tax losses 13.9 14.6

Accelerated capital allowances 1.8 2.9

Other timing differences 0.2 –

21.1 24.5

Of the unrecognised tax losses set out above, £0.6m expire at the end of 2019, £0.6m expire at the end of 2020, £0.5m expire at the end of 
2022 and £0.4m expire at the end of 2023.

12  Ordinary dividends
2018 

Pence 
per share

2018
£m

2017
 Pence 

per share
2017 

£m

Interim dividend 4.0 13.6 3.7 12.6

Proposed final dividend 9.1 30.9 8.5 28.9

13.1 44.5 12.2 41.5

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and has not been included as a liability 
in these financial statements.

Dividends paid
2018 

£m
2017 

£m

Interim dividend 13.6 12.6

Prior year final dividend 28.9 26.5

42.5 39.1

13  Earnings per share
Number of shares

2018
 Number

000s

2017 
Number

 000s

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share 339,766 339,881

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Share options 1,808 2,258

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share 341,574 342,139

Earnings per share
2018 2017

From Continuing operations

Earnings (Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent) £m 99.8 74.0

Basic earnings per share p 29.4 21.8

Diluted earnings per share p 29.2 21.6

G
overnance �

58
-92

S
trateg

ic rep
o

rt �
IFC

-57

G
ro

u
p

 fin
a

n
c

ia
l sta

te
m

e
n

ts�
93

-14
4

O
ther info

rm
atio

n�
157-16

0
C

o
m

p
any financial statem

ents�
145

-156

Synthomer plc Annual Report 2018 119



Group financial statements

14  Employees
2018

 Number
2017 

Number

The average monthly number of employees during the year by segment was:

Europe & North America 2,089 1,985

Asia & Rest of the World 799 776

Corporate 30 28

2,918 2,789

2018 
£m

2017 
£m

The aggregate remuneration of all Group employees comprised:

Wages and salaries 123.1 116.3

Social security costs 21.5 18.0

Pension costs (including £2.8m GMP equalisation) 11.3 8.0

Share-based payments 1.5 2.8

157.4 145.1

Directors’ emoluments are disclosed in the Remuneration Report on pages 73 to 88.

15  Goodwill
Note

2018 
£m

2017
 £m

Cost

At 1 January 439.0 411.3

Exchange adjustments 6.2 2.8

Purchase of business 31 1.2 24.9

At 31 December 446.4 439.0

Accumulated impairment losses

At 1 January and at 31 December 109.9 109.9

Net book value

At 31 December 336.5 329.1

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment at the balance sheet date, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might 
be impaired.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUs”) that are expected to benefit 
from that business combination. 

The allocation of the carrying value of goodwill is represented below.	

Net book 
value at 

1 January 
 2017

 £m

Exchange
adjustments

£m

Purchase of
business 

£m

Net book 
value at

 31 December 
2017 

£m

Exchange 
adjustments

 £m

Purchase of 
business

 £m

Net book 
value at 

31 December
 2018

£m

Europe & North America 268.3 2.5 24.9 295.7 4.6 1.2 301.5

Asia & Rest of the World 33.1 0.3 – 33.4 1.6 – 35.0

Total 301.4 2.8 24.9 329.1 6.2 1.2 336.5

The recoverable amounts for CGUs are determined from value in use calculations, based upon discounted cash flows. The key assumptions 
for those discounted cash flow calculations are the discount rate, profitability and growth rate. The discount rate is based on the Group’s 
weighted average cost of capital adjusted, where appropriate, for the risk premium attributable to the particular CGU’s activities and geography 
of operation. Profitability and growth rates are based on past experience combined with management’s expectations for future business 
performance, which is informed by a number of factors including economic growth, internal plans and competitor and customer activity.
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Pretax discount rates of 11% (2017: 11%) and 12% (2017: 12%) have been used in the above calculations for Europe & North America and 
Asia & Rest of World respectively. 

The profit used in the cash flows for the first five years is derived from management forecasts; for years six to ten a growth rate is applied.  
Growth rates of 2% (2017: 2%) and 5% (2017: 5%) have been used for Europe & North America and Asia & Rest of World respectively, 
representing management’s best estimate of each CGU’s circumstances, and these do not exceed the long term growth rates for the 
markets concerned. The profit for year ten is then assumed to apply without further growth into perpetuity. 

The directors consider that there is no reasonably possible change in key assumptions that would lead to an impairment.

Of the net book value of goodwill at 31 December 2018, £70.5 million (2017: £70.5 million) is located in the UK.

16  Acquired intangible assets

Note

Customer 
relationships 

£m

Other 
acquired 

intangibles
£m

Total 
£m

Cost

At 1 January 2018 250.2 5.7 255.9

Exchange adjustments 5.0 0.2 5.2

Purchase of business 31 10.7 6.9 17.6

At 31 December 2018 265.9 12.8 278.7

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

At 1 January 2018 187.2 2.5 189.7

Exchange adjustments 3.5 – 3.5

Amortisation charge for the year 14.2 2.2 16.4

At 31 December 2018 204.9 4.7 209.6

Net book value

At 31 December 2018 61.0 8.1 69.1

Note

Customer 
relationships 

£m

Other 
acquired 

intangibles 
£m

Total 
£m

Cost

At 1 January 2017 204.1 3.0 207.1

Exchange adjustments 7.2 0.2 7.4

Purchase of business 38.9 2.5 41.4

At 31 December 2017 250.2 5.7 255.9

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

At 1 January 2017 151.2 1.7 152.9

Exchange adjustments 5.7 0.1 5.8

Amortisation charge for the year 30.3 0.7 31.0

At 31 December 2017 187.2 2.5 189.7

Net book value

At 31 December 2017 63.0 3.2 66.2

Analysis of net book value by segment: 
2018 

£m
2017 

£m

Europe & North America 68.7 62.2

Asia & Rest of the World 0.4 4.0

69.1 66.2
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Group financial statements

17  Other intangible assets
 £m

Cost 

At 1 January 2018 3.6

Exchange adjustments –

Additions 4.3

Disposals (0.1)

At 31 December 2018 7.8

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

At 1 January 2018 1.7

Exchange adjustments –

Amortisation charge for the year 1.1

Disposals (0.1)

At 31 December 2018 2.7

Net book value

At 31 December 2018 5.1

 £m

Cost 

At 1 January 2017 1.5

Exchange adjustments (0.2)

Additions 2.5

Transfer to assets held for sale (0.1)

Disposals (0.1)

At 31 December 2017 3.6

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

At 1 January 2017 1.3

Exchange adjustments (0.2)

Amortisation charge for the year 0.8

Transfer to assets held for sale (0.1)

Disposals (0.1)

At 31 December 2017 1.7

Net book value

At 31 December 2017 1.9

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

As disclosed in note 2, there are various conditions required by IAS 38 for an internally generated intangible asset to be recognised.
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18  Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings

Freeholds 
£m

Leaseholds
Plant and

equipment
 £m

Assets under 
construction

£m
Total 

£m
Long 

£m
Short

 £m

Cost 

At 1 January 2018 104.9 6.9 1.2 499.3 33.8 646.1

Exchange adjustments 2.8 – – 11.3 0.9 15.0

Additions 1.0 – – 34.8 37.2 73.0

Purchase of business 1.2 – – 4.2 – 5.4

Sale of business – – – (0.1) – (0.1)

Disposals (0.9) – – (1.5) – (2.4)

Transfer from assets under construction – – – 42.6 (42.6) –

Reclassification (0.1) – 0.5 (0.4) – –

At 31 December 2018 108.9 6.9 1.7 590.2 29.3 737.0

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 January 2018 31.3 3.4 0.3 289.0 – 324.0

Exchange adjustments 0.6 – – 5.7 – 6.3

Depreciation charge for the year 5.3 0.2 0.3 32.0 – 37.8

Sale of business – – – (0.1) – (0.1)

Assets written down – – – (0.2) – (0.2)

Disposals (0.2) – – (0.6) – (0.8)

Reclassification – – 0.4 (0.4) – –

At 31 December 2018 37.0 3.6 1.0 325.4 – 367.0

Net book value

At 31 December 2018 71.9 3.3 0.7 264.8 29.3 370.0

Land and buildings

Freeholds 
£m

Leaseholds
Plant and

equipment
 £m

Assets under 
construction

£m
Total 

£m
Long 

£m
Short

 £m

Cost 

At 1 January 2017 80.2 6.9 20.4 459.7 15.2 582.4

Exchange adjustments 2.2 – (0.1) 9.5 0.4 12.0

Additions 2.2 0.2 – 37.5 18.2 58.1

Purchase of business 5.1 – – 3.8 – 8.9

Transfer to assets held for sale (4.3) – – (5.4) – (9.7)

Disposals (0.7) (0.2) – (4.7) – (5.6)

Reclassification 20.2 – (19.1) (1.1) – –

At 31 December 2017 104.9 6.9 1.2 499.3 33.8 646.1

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 January 2017 24.3 3.3 2.6 258.9 – 289.1

Exchange adjustments – – – 4.7 – 4.7

Depreciation charge for the year 5.3 0.2 0.3 30.6 – 36.4

Transfer to assets held for sale (1.0) – – (2.0) – (3.0)

Assets written down (0.4) – – (1.0) – (1.4)

Disposals (0.7) (0.1) – (1.0) – (1.8)

Reclassification 3.8 – (2.6) (1.2) – –

At 31 December 2017 31.3 3.4 0.3 289.0 – 324.0

Net book value

At 31 December 2017 73.6 3.5 0.9 210.3 33.8 322.1
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Group financial statements

18  Property, plant and equipment continued
2018 

£m
2017
 £m

Freehold land which has not been depreciated 17.6 17.4

Analysis of net book value by location: 
2018 

£m
2017
 £m

UK 43.7 39.3

Germany 83.0 67.5

Malaysia 130.6 123.5

Other 112.7 91.8

370.0 322.1

Analysis of net book value by segment:

2018 
£m

2017
 £m

Europe & North America 233.3 192.3

Asia & Rest of the World 136.7 129.8

370.0 322.1

19  Investment in joint ventures
Details of the Group’s joint ventures are as follows:

% of ownership

Name of entity Place of incorporation 2018 2017 Principal Activity Segment

Synthomer Middle 
East 

Saudi Arabia 49% 49% Manufacturer and sale of acrylic and 
vinyl resin emulsions

Asia & Rest of the World

Synthomer Functional 
Solutions FZCO

UAE 49% – Trading in adhesives and oilfield chemicals Asia & Rest of the World

Synthomer FZE 
Limited

UAE 49% 100%  Sales and marketing support for  
Synthomer Group companies

Asia & Rest of the World

Super Sky Ltd United Kingdom 50% 50% Non-trading Unallocated 
corporate expense

The Group reduced its holding in its UAE assets to 49% to align with other arrangements with joint venture partners in the region. 

During the year, the Group transferred certain assets and liabilities to Synthomer Functional Solutions FZCO Limited. On 28 June 2018, 
Group disposed of 51% of its shareholding in Synthomer Functional Solutions FZCO Limited for £1.4m, generating a profit on disposal of 
£0.5m and the Group disposed of 51% of its shareholding in Synthomer FZE Limited for £2.9m, generating a profit on disposal of £2.4m. See 
Sale of business note 32.

These joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these financial statements.

Summarised financial information in respect of the joint ventures is set out below. This information represents amounts in the joint ventures' 
financial statements adjusted for differences in accounting policies between the Group and the joint venture (and not the Group's share of 
those amounts).
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Summarised balance sheet (100%)

2018 
£m

2017
£m

Non-current assets 5.2 4.6

Cash and cash equivalents 4.7 2.3

Other current assets 18.6 15.3

Total current assets 23.3 17.6

Other current liabilities (10.9) (7.0)

Total current liabilities (10.9) (7.0)

Net assets 17.6 15.2

Group share:
2018 

£m
2017 

£m

Total assets 14.0 10.9

Total liabilities (5.4) (3.4)

Net assets (Group share) 8.6 7.5

Summarised statement of comprehensive income (100%)

2018 
£m

2017 
£m

Revenue 42.3 39.6

Operating profit from continuing operations 0.9 2.1

Interest – –

Taxation – –

Amortisation of intangibles – –

Profit from continuing operations 0.9 2.1

Exchange differences on translation 1.1 (1.1)

Total comprehensive income 2.0 1.0

Dividends paid (2.3) (4.1)

Movement in retained earnings (0.3) (3.1)

Profit for the year (Group share) 0.4 1.0

Exchange differences on translation (Group share) 0.5 (0.5)

Dividends paid (Group share) (1.1) (2.0)

The following table reconciles the summary information above to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures:

Investment in joint venture
2018

£m
2017
 £m

At 1 January 7.5 9.0

Profit from continuing operations 0.4 1.0

Exchange differences on translation 0.4 (0.5)

Partial disposal UAE business 1.4 –

Dividend paid (1.1) (2.0)

At 31 December 8.6 7.5
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Group financial statements

20  Inventories
2018
 £m

2017 
£m

Raw materials and consumables 68.1 54.6

Finished goods 73.8 70.5

141.9 125.1

Stock written off during the year 0.7 0.9

Cost of inventory recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales 1,126.6 1,031.9

There is no material difference between the consolidated balance sheet value of inventories and their net realisable value.

The nature of the chemical reaction necessary to produce finished goods from raw materials is such that ‘work in progress’ is not a material 
part of the Group’s inventory at any given point of time. 

21  Trade and other receivables
2018
 £m

2017 
£m

Trade receivables 196.2 196.8

Other receivables 30.6 28.8

Receivables excluding prepayments 226.8 225.6

Prepayments 6.1 3.5

232.9 229.1

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair value.

Credit risk
Amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful receivables, estimated by the Group's management based  
on expected losses. The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of customers.

Before accepting a new customer, the Group uses appropriate procedures to assess the potential customer's credit quality in order to set a 
credit limit.

Ageing of trade receivables
2018 

£m
2017
 £m

Not yet due 171.8 167.2

0 – 60 days overdue 23.8 28.6

61 – 120 days overdue 0.3 0.4

Over 120 days overdue 1.1 2.2

197.0 198.4

Less: loss allowance (0.8) (1.6)

196.2 196.8

Provision for impairment of receivables
2018 

£m
2017
 £m

At 1 January 1.6 4.1

Exchange adjustments – 0.1

Sale of business (0.1) –

(Credit)/charge for the year (0.1) 0.1

Amounts written back/off as uncollectable (0.6) (2.7)

At 31 December 0.8 1.6

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

126 Synthomer plc Annual Report 2018



22  Cash and borrowings
2018 

£m
2017
 £m

Current borrowings

Bank overdrafts 20.7 24.2

Bank loans

Unsecured €55m loan expiring 21 November 2018 – 48.9

Unsecured €55m loan expiring 26 July 2019 49.4 –

70.1 73.1

Non-current borrowings

Bank loans

Unsecured £370m multi currency Revolving Credit Facility expiring 30 July 2019 – 197.8

Unsecured €440m multi currency Revolving Credit Facility expiring 23 July 2022 242.6 –

242.6 197.8

Less: capitalised costs (1.8) (0.8)

240.8 197.0

Bank loans and overdrafts are denominated in a number of currencies and bear interest based on LIBOR or foreign equivalents or 
government bond rates appropriate to the country in which the borrowing is incurred. 

The directors calculate the carrying value of the Group’s borrowings as follows:

Analysis of borrowings at carrying value by currency
Sterling 

£m
US dollar

 £m
Euro 

£m
Other

 £m
Total 

£m

31 December 2018

Bank overdrafts 2.1 1.2 17.4 – 20.7

Bank loans – – 292.0 – 292.0

Capitalised costs (1.8) – – – (1.8)

0.3 1.2 309.4 – 310.9

Cash and cash equivalents (96.9)

Net borrowings 214.0

31 December 2017

Bank overdrafts 13.2 5.7 4.3 1.0 24.2

Bank loans – – 215.3 31.4 246.7

Capitalised costs (0.8) – – – (0.8)

12.4 5.7 219.6 32.4 270.1

Cash and cash equivalents (89.6)

Net borrowings 180.5

Cash and cash equivalents are deposited with financial institutions rated as investment grade.

Capital structure
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while maximising the return to 
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes 
the cash and borrowings, and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings. 
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Group financial statements

23  Financial instruments
The Group operates procedures designed to reduce or eliminate financial risk and ensure that funds are available for current and future 
needs. The policies are approved by the Board and the use of financial instruments is strictly controlled. 

2018 2017

Financial assets Note

Loans and 
receivables

 £m

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss 
£m

Loans and
 receivables 

£m

Fair value
 through
 profit or 

loss 
£m

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments 21 226.8 – 225.6 –

Cash and cash equivalents 22 96.9 – 89.6 –

323.7 – 315.2 –

2018 2017

Financial liabilities Note

Amortised 
cost 

£m

Derivative 
instruments

in designated 
hedge 

accounting
 £m

Amortised 
cost 
£m

Derivative 
instruments 

in designated 
hedge 

accounting 
£m

Bank overdrafts 22 20.7 – 24.2 –

Bank loans (less capitalised costs) 22 290.2 – 245.9 –

Trade and other payables 25 263.9 – 281.6 –

Derivatives at fair value – 5.3 – –

574.8 5.3 551.7 –

Set out below is a comparison by category of book values and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities.

Carrying values at 
31 December

Fair values at 
31 December

Note
2018 

£m
2017
 £m

2018 
£m

2017 
£m

Fair value of financial assets

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments 21 226.8 225.6 226.8 225.6

Cash and cash equivalents 22 96.9 89.6 96.9 89.6

323.7 315.2 323.7 315.2

Fair value of financial liabilities

Bank overdrafts 22 20.7 24.2 20.7 24.2

Bank loans 22 290.2 245.9 290.2 245.9

Trade and other payables 25 263.9 281.6 263.9 281.6

Derivatives at fair value 5.3 – 5.3 –

580.1 551.7 580.1 551.7

Fair values have been obtained from the relevant institutions where appropriate. Where market values are not available, fair values of 
financial assets and financial liabilities have been calculated by discounting expected future cash flow at prevailing interest rates and by 
applying year end exchange rates. The carrying amount of short-term borrowings approximates to book value.

The fair values of the Group's financial instruments are measured using inputs other than quoted prices that are directly or indirectly 
observable (Level 2 as defined by IFRS 13).

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are market risk and liquidity risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies for 
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below, together with the related disclosure required by IFRS.
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Market risk
The Group's main exposure to market risk is in the form of interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. The policies adopted to address these 
risks are as follows:

Interest rate risk
The Group finances its operations through a mixture of retained profits, loan notes and bank borrowings. The Group monitors interest rate 
trends regularly, through discussion with its banks, and fixes interest rates when it is prudent to do so.

Foreign currency risk
When it is effective to do so the Group uses currency borrowings, forward contracts and currency swaps to hedge overseas net assets, 
which are predominantly denominated in Euro, US dollar and Malaysian Ringgit. Profit translation exposures are not hedged.

The Group hedges currency transaction exposures at the point of confirmed order, using forward foreign exchange contracts. The Group's 
policy is, where practicable, to hedge all exposures on monetary assets and liabilities. Consequently, there are no material currency 
exposures to disclose (2017: none).

Hedge accounting
The Group has interest rate swaps that are used to reduce the exposure to interest rate risk in relation to the ineffective portion of interest 
rate hedges.

These swaps are fully effective at eliminating the risks they address. The Group has reviewed the requirements necessary to permit the 
application of hedge accounting under IAS 39. 

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments to which hedge accounting is not applied or is not effective are recognised in the 
income statement as they arise. £1.4 million has been debited to the income statement in the year (2017: £nil). These changes are shown 
separately as a Special Item in the consolidated income statement.

Interest rate risk profile
Financial liabilities

After taking into account the various interest rate and currency swaps entered into by the Group, the currency and interest rate exposure of 
the Group as at 31 December 2018 was:

2018 2017

Floating rate 
borrowings 

£m

Fixed rate 
borrowings 

£m

Total 
borrowings 

£m

Floating rate 
borrowings

 £m

Fixed rate 
borrowings

 £m

Total 
borrowings

 £m

Sterling 0.3 – 0.3 12.4 – 12.4

Euro 17.4 292.0 309.4 219.6 – 219.6

US dollar 1.2 – 1.2 5.7 – 5.7

Other – – – 32.4 – 32.4

18.9 292.0 310.9 270.1 – 270.1

Cash and cash equivalents (96.9) (89.6)

Net borrowings 214.0 180.5

At 31 December 2018 the Group had in place swap arrangements to fix interest rates on the full value of the €440m committed, unsecured 
revolving credit facility.

The effective interest rate for the year was 1.5% (2017: 1.7%) 
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Group financial statements

23  Financial instruments continued
Sensitivity analysis
The following table illustrates the effect on the income statement and items that are recognised directly in equity that would result from 
reasonably possible movements in UK and US interest rates and in Euro, US dollar and Malaysian Ringgit to sterling exchange rates,  
before the effect of tax.

2018  2017

Income statement Equity Income statement Equity

Underlying
 -/+ £m

IFRS
-/+ £m

IFRS
-/+ £m

Underlying
 -/+ £m

IFRS
-/+ £m

IFRS 
-/+ £m

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

UK interest rate +/- 1.0% – – – – – –

Euro interest rate +/- 1.0% – 1.0 2.9 1.9 1.9 –

US interest rate +/- 1.0% 0.1 0.1 – 0.1 0.1 –

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

Malaysian Ringgit exchange rate -/+ 10% – – – – – –

Euro exchange rate -/+ 10% 0.6 0.6 1.5 0.3 0.3 15.7

US dollar exchange rate -/+ 10% 0.2 0.2 – 0.2 0.2 4.0

The interest rate sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivative and non-derivative 
instruments at the balance sheet date. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding  
at the balance sheet date was outstanding for the whole year.

For interest rate derivatives the mark to market adjustment, and amount recognised in equity as part of a hedging arrangement is estimated 
using the interest rate sensitivity against the nominal amount.

The foreign currency sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at 
the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations 
within the Group where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the functional currency of the lender or borrower.

Liquidity risk
The objective of the Group is to meet financial commitments as and when they fall due. The Board closely monitors liquidity through 
monthly management accounts.

At the year end, Synthomer plc had the following principal committed facilities:

2018 2017

Facility 
£m

Drawn at 
31 December 

£m
Headroom

 £m
Facility 

£m

Drawn at 
31 December 

£m
Headroom 

£m

Unsecured £370m multi currency  
Revolving Credit Facility expiring 30 July 2019 – – – 370.0 197.8 172.2

Unsecured €440m multi currency  
Revolving Credit Facility expiring 23 July 2022 395.4 242.6 152.8 – – –

Unsecured €55m loan expiring 21 November 2018 – – – 48.9 48.9 –

Unsecured €55m loan expiring 26 July 2019 49.4 49.4 – – – –

444.8 292.0 152.8 418.9 246.7 172.2
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The following table details the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative financial assets:

2018 2017

Amount due Total Amount due Total

within 
one year 

£m

between
 1 and 

2 years 
£m

between 
2 and 

5 years 
£m

after
 5 years

£m £m

within 
one year 

£m

between 
1 and 

2 years 
£m

between
 2 and

 5 years 
£m

after 
5 years 

£m £m

Non-interest bearing

Trade and other receivables excluding 
prepayments 226.8 – – – 226.8 225.6 – – – 225.6

Variable interest rate instruments

Cash and cash equivalents 96.9 – – – 96.9 89.6 – – – 89.6

323.7 – – – 323.7 315.2 – – – 315.2

The following table details the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative financial liabilities:

2018 2017

Amount due Total Amount due Total

within 
one year 

£m

between 
1 and 

2 years 
£m

between
 2 and

 5 years
 £m

after
 5 years 

£m £m

within 
one year

 £m

between 
1 and

2 years 
£m

between
 2 and

 5 years 
£m

after 
5 years 

£m £m

Non-interest bearing

Trade and other payables 263.2 0.7 – – 263.9 279.3 2.3 – – 281.6

Variable interest rate instruments

Bank loans and overdrafts 70.1 – 240.8 – 310.9 73.1 197.0 – – 270.1

333.3 0.7 240.8 – 574.8 352.4 199.3 – – 551.7

24  Assets classified as held for sale
2018 

£m
2017 

£m

Disposal of Synthomer Leuna – 6.5

Freehold land located in Malaysia – 0.3

Assets classified as held for sale – 6.8

The assets held for sale in relation to the disposal of Synthomer Leuna comprise the fixed assets, current assets and current liabilities  
of Synthomer Leuna as at 31 December 2017. As disclosed in note 32, Synthomer Leuna was disposed on 1 January 2018.
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Group financial statements

24  Assets classified as held for sale continued 
Malaysia
The Group owns agricultural land in Malaysia, which is operated as a palm oil and natural rubber plantation. The land was owned by Kind 
Action Sdn Bhd, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Revertex Malaysia Sdn Bhd that has a 30% non-controlling interest. The directors 
decided in 2013 to dispose of this land on the open market excluding the 300 acres immediately surrounding the manufacturing facilities.

The status of the disposal programme was as follows:

2018 2017

Acres
Consideration 

£m Acres
Consideration 

£m

Sale completed 400 17.1 – –

Contracts exchanged – – 400 17.1

To be sold – – – –

400 17.1 400 17.1

The consideration is shown before deduction of disposal costs, taxation and the non-controlling interest share.

For the sales completed in the year the profit on sale was derived as follows:

2018 2017 

Number of acres sold 400 –

£m £m

Gross consideration 17.1 –

Less disposal costs (0.4) –

16.7 –

Less cost of land (0.3) –

Profit on disposal 16.4 –

As at 31 December 2018 there are no more acres of land to be sold and the value of assets held for sale as at 31 December 2018 is £nil.

25  Trade and other payables
2018 

£m
2017
 £m

Amount due within one year

Trade payables 204.9 202.6

Other payables 27.7 39.7

Accruals 30.6 37.0

263.2 279.3

Amount due after one year

Other payables 0.7 2.3

0.7 2.3

Average trade payable days in 2018 was 61 (2017: 60). This figure represents trade payable days for all trading operations within the Group, 
calculated as a weighted average based on cost of sales. 

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables, other payables and accruals approximates to their fair value.
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26  Post retirement benefit obligations
Charge/(credit) to income statement in respect of the Group’s pension schemes:

2018 2017

UK 
£m

Overseas 
£m

Total 
£m

UK 
£m

Overseas 
£m

Total 
£m

Defined benefit 5.4 2.3 7.7 3.4 2.5 5.9

Defined contribution 2.0 4.8 6.8 1.7 4.7 6.4

7.4 7.1 14.5 5.1 7.2 12.3

Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
2018 2017

UK
 £m

Overseas 
£m

Total 
£m

UK 
£m

Overseas
 £m

Total 
£m

Actuarial gains 14.2 1.3 15.5 22.4 1.2 23.6

Amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Group’s defined benefit scheme obligations
2018 2017

UK 
£m

Overseas 
£m

Total 
£m

UK
 £m

Overseas 
£m

Total
 £m

Present value of defined benefit obligations (372.3) (90.8) (463.1) (410.8) (89.7) (500.5)

Fair value of scheme assets 319.1 11.5 330.6 332.5 10.8 343.3

Net liability arising from defined benefit obligations (53.2) (79.3) (132.5) (78.3) (78.9) (157.2)

UK pension schemes
The Group's UK defined benefit scheme was closed to future accrual in 2009. All pension benefits since that time are provided by way  
of a defined contribution scheme. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the companies concerned.

The triennial valuation of the scheme was performed during 2018 and is in the process of being finalised with the trustees of the scheme.

Defined benefit scheme
The defined benefit scheme is administered by a separate fund that is legally separated from the Company.

The trustees of the pension fund are required by law to act in the interest of the fund and of all relevant stakeholders in the scheme.  
The trustees of the pension are responsible for the investment policy with regard to the assets of the fund.

A full actuarial valuation was carried out as at 6 April 2015 and updated to 31 December 2018 by a qualified actuary.

The Group is committed to a funding deficit recovery plan entered into following the 2015 valuation. This valuation indicated a shortfall, 
when measured against the Scheme's technical provisions of £118.7m. This shortfall is expected to be eliminated in eight years following  
the valuation date. As a result the Group is committed to paying contributions for the period 6 April 2015 to 5 April 2023, increasing from 
£14.0m for the year commencing 6 April 2015 to £18.2m for the year commencing 6 April 2022.
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Group financial statements

26  Post retirement benefit obligations continued
The scheme is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below:

Asset return risk The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields; if plan assets 
underperform this yield, this will increase the deficit. The scheme holds a significant proportion of equities which  
are expected to outperform corporate bonds in the long term while providing volatility and risk in the short term. 

Interest rate risk A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this will be partially offset by an increase  
in the value of the plans' bond holdings. 

Longevity risk The majority of the plans' obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so increases in life 
expectancy will result in an increase in the plans' liabilities. 

The risk relating to benefits to be paid to the dependants of scheme members (widow and orphan benefits) is re-insured by an external 
insurance company.

The major assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

2018 2017

Rate of increase in pensions in payment 2.00% 2.00%

Rate of increase in pensions in deferment 2.20% 2.00%

Discount rate 2.80% 2.50%

Inflation assumption 3.20% 3.10%

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on actuarial advice in accordance with published statistics. These assumptions translate 
into an average life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring at 65 as follows:

2018
years

2017
years

Retiring today:

Males 87.1 87.2

Females 89.4 89.1

Retiring in 20 years:

Males 88.7 88.7

Females 91.2 90.6

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are discount rate and mortality. The sensitivity 
analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting 
period assuming that all other assumptions are held constant:

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on scheme liabilities

Discount rate Increase/decrease by 1% Decrease/increase by £48m

Rate of mortality Increase by 1 year Increase by £14m

The above sensitivities are based on a change of assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice this is unlikely to occur 
and changes in some of the assumptions may have some correlation. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to 
significant actuarial assumptions, the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit 
method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognised within the balance sheet. 
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The movements in the net liability arising from defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:

2018 2017

Present
value of
funded 
defined 
benefit 

obligation 
£m

Fair value 
of scheme 

assets 
£m

Net liability 
arising from 

defined 
benefit 

obligation
 £m

Present
value of
funded 
defined 
benefit 

obligation 
£m

Fair value 
of scheme 

assets 
£m

Net liability 
arising from 

defined 
benefit 

obligation
 £m

At 1 January (410.8) 332.5 (78.3) (428.4) 315.9 (112.5)

Current service cost (0.8) – (0.8) (0.5) – (0.5)

Past service cost (2.8) – (2.8) – – –

Interest (expense)/income (10.0) 8.2 (1.8) (11.3) 8.4 (2.9)

Amounts recognised in income in respect  
of defined benefit schemes (13.6) 8.2 (5.4) (11.8) 8.4 (3.4)

Remeasurement:

Return on plan assets excluding amounts  
included in interest income – (13.5) (13.5) – 15.3 15.3

Gains from changes in financial assumptions 27.7 – 27.7 7.1 – 7.1

Amounts recognised in the statement of  
comprehensive income 27.7 (13.5) 14.2 7.1 15.3 22.4

Contributions:

Employers 0.8 15.5 16.3 0.5 14.7 15.2

Payments from plans

Benefit payments 23.6 (23.6) – 21.8 (21.8) –

At 31 December (372.3) 319.1 (53.2) (410.8) 332.5 (78.3)

Plan assets are comprised as follows:

2018 
£m

2017 
£m

Hedge funds 36.2 39.6

Equity instruments 64.9 69.6

Debt instruments 192.2 208.8

Property 8.2 10.0

Cash 17.6 4.5

Total fair value of assets 319.1 332.5

All investments in Equities, Bonds and Property are quoted.

The weighted average duration of the benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period is 14 years (2017: 16 years).

Contributions from the sponsoring companies are expected to be £16.2 million in 2019.

Overseas pension schemes
The Group operates a number of smaller overseas pension and post-retirement schemes. The assets of these schemes are held separately 
from those of the Group, with the exception of the unfunded German schemes (net liability £71.8 million, 2017: £72.1 million) where in line 
with common practice, the assets are held within the respective companies. 
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Group financial statements

26  Post retirement benefit obligations continued
Defined benefit schemes
The aggregated pension disclosure below for the overseas defined benefit schemes has been compiled from a number of actuarial 
valuations at 31 December 2018.

The largest of these schemes accounts for £69.1 million (2017: £68.5 million) of the deficit at 31 December 2018. The major assumption 
used in the actuarial valuation of this scheme are:

2018  2017 

Rate of increase in salaries 3.00% 3.00%

Rate of increase in pensions 1.75% 1.75%

Discount rate 2.00% 1.90%

Mortality assumptions
The assumed life expectations on retirement at age 65 are:

2018
years

 2017 
years

Retiring today:

Males 85.0 84.3

Females 88.6 88.3

Retiring in 20 years:

Males 87.8 86.9

Females 90.8 90.8

The major assumptions used in the valuation of the other overseas schemes do not differ significantly from the above.

The movement in the net liability arising from defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:

2018 2017

Present 
value of 
funded 
defined 
benefit 

obligation  
£m

Fair value
 of scheme 

assets 
£m

Net liability 
arising from 

defined 
benefit 

obligation
 £m

Present 
value of 
funded 
defined 
benefit 

obligation 
£m

Fair value
 of scheme 

assets 
£m

Net liability 
arising from 

defined 
benefit 

obligation
 £m

At 1 January (89.7) 10.8 (78.9) (83.2) 9.0 (74.2)

Current service cost (1.0) – (1.0) (1.1) – (1.1)

Past service credit 0.1 – 0.1 – – –

Interest (expense)/income (1.6) 0.2 (1.4) (1.6) 0.2 (1.4)

Amounts recognised in the income statement  
in respect of defined benefit schemes (2.5) 0.2 (2.3) (2.7) 0.2 (2.5)

Remeasurement:

Gains/(losses) from changes in financial assumptions 1.4 (0.1) 1.3 1.3 (0.1) 1.2

Amounts recognised in the statement  
of comprehensive income 1.4 (0.1) 1.3 1.3 (0.1) 1.2

Contributions less payments from plans 2.4 (0.1) 2.3 2.3 (0.2) 2.1

Obligations of acquired entities (1.2) 0.6 (0.6) (4.2) 1.5 (2.7)

Exchange adjustments (1.2) 0.1 (1.1) (3.2) 0.4 (2.8)

At 31 December (90.8) 11.5 (79.3) (89.7) 10.8 (78.9)
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Multi-employer schemes
In addition to the overseas defined benefit schemes included in the above, the Group participates in the Degussa Pensionskasse in Germany, 
which is a multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme. Regular contributions are payable to the scheme by each participating employer 
for new benefits accruing. The assets of all participating employers are pooled, and contributions are calculated based on aggregated 
demographic experience. Therefore sufficient information is not available to identify the Group’s share of the assets on a consistent and reliable 
basis and the Group accounts for the scheme on a defined contribution basis. The Group expects to make regular contributions of £2.3m to 
the scheme in 2019.

To the extent that there is underfunding in the scheme deficit contributions are payable. Based on the latest actuarial assessment each 
participating employer’s share has been determined according to the value of its future benefit accrual and it has been determined that the 
Group is liable for total deficit contributions of €4.6m in three instalments payable in January 2017, 2018 and 2019. As a result an accrual of 
£1.3m (2017: £2.7m) has been included at 31 December 2018.

27  Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Environmental 
restoration 

£m

Legal and 
customer 

claims 
£m

Restructuring 
£m

Liability
 arising on

 a business 
combination 

£m
Total

 £m

At 1 January 2018 0.6 2.5 6.7 0.2 10.0

(Credited)/charged to the income statement – (2.5) 9.3 – 6.8

Utilised during the year (0.6) – (2.0) – (2.6)

At 31 December 2018 – – 14.0 0.2 14.2

Analysis of provisions
31 December 

2018 
£m

31 December 
2017
 £m

Non-current 4.8 7.6

Current 9.4 2.4

14.2 10.0

Analysis of (credit)/charge to the income statement
2018 

£m
2017 

£m

Underlying performance (2.5) –

Special Items 9.3 4.0

6.8 4.0

Environmental restoration
The provision for the restoration of land which is no longer being used as a manufacturing site was fully utilised in the year and no further 
obligation remains. 

Legal and customer claims
This amount represented a provision for certain legal and customer claims brought against the Group. During the year the time passed for 
which these claims could be settled and the amounts were credited to the income statement.

Restructuring
The Group has additionally provided for an onerous lease and related costs on the closed site in Ossett, and as part of the post PAC 
acquisition restructuring programme, the Group has planned the demolition of buildings at the site in Ribécourt, France. The Group also 
closed its natural rubber and polyester resins production lines in Kluang in 2018. The cost of all these restructuring programmes is charged 
to the income statement when permitted by the Group's accounting policy within Special Items. The provision reflects the amount that has 
been charged but not yet spent.

Liability arising on a business combination
As part of the acquisition of PolymerLatex in 2011, the Group acquired a leasehold interest in an empty property. The provision reflects this 
onerous contract.

The provisions are expected to be fully utilised over the next five years with the exception of the Ossett overseas lease provision which is 
expected to be utilised over 50 years.
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Group financial statements

28  Called up share capital
2018 

£m
2017
 £m

Issued and fully paid

339,880,769 (2017: 339,880,769) ordinary shares of 10 pence each 34.0 34.0 

Ordinary shares carry no right to fixed income. 

Share options (see note 36)
The outstanding share options were all issued under the Executive share option scheme. These are discussed further in note 36 –  
Share-based payments. 

As at 31 December 2018 the following options were outstanding:
Number

Executive share options

Exercisable between 2016-2023 11,879

Exercisable between 2017-2024 20,009

Exercisable between 2018-2025 138,734

Exercisable between 2019-2026 634,219

Exercisable between 2020-2027 497,405

Exercisable between 2021-2028 505,717

1,807,963

The total exercise price for all the above grants is £nil.

29  Reconciliation of operating profit to cash generated from operations
2018
 £m

2017
 £m

Operating profit – continuing operations 128.7 95.4

Less: share of profits of joint ventures (0.4) (1.0)

128.3 94.4

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 37.8 36.4

Amortisation 1.1 0.8

Share-based payments 1.5 2.8

Restructuring and site closure – Special Items 12.2 11.6

Sale of business – Special Items (3.8) –

Sale of land – Special Items (16.4) (1.3)

Acquisition costs – Special Items 0.5 2.3

Amortisation of acquired intangibles – Special Items 16.4 31.0

Aborted bond costs – Special Items 1.7 –

GMP equalisation – Special Items 2.8 –

Cash impact of restructuring and site closure (3.3) (6.0)

Cash impact of acquisition costs (0.5) (2.1)

Cash impact of aborted bond costs (1.2) –

IAS 19 interest charge (3.2) (4.3)

Pension funding in excess of IAS 19 interest charge (13.8) (12.5)

Movement in working capital (35.2) 9.5

Cash generated from operations 124.9 162.6

Reconciliation of movement in working capital

Increase in inventories (13.5) (13.3)

Increase in trade and other receivables (5.6) (24.0)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (16.1) 46.8

Movement in working capital (35.2) 9.5
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30  Analysis of changes in net borrowings
1 January 

2018 
£m

Cash 
inflows/

(outflows) 
£m

Exchange 
and other

movements
 £m

31 December 
2018
 £m

Current borrowing – Bank overdrafts (24.2) 3.6 (0.1) (20.7)

Current bank borrowings – Other (48.9) – (0.5) (49.4)

Non-current borrowings (197.0) (40.4) (3.4) (240.8)

Total borrowings (270.1) (36.8) (4.0) (310.9)

Cash and cash equivalents 89.6 5.6 1.7 96.9

Net borrowings (180.5) (31.2) (2.3) (214.0)

2018
£m

2017
£m

Repayment of borrowings (63.5) (102.0)

Proceeds of borrowings 103.9 136.3

40.4 34.3

31  Purchase of business
On 31 January 2018 the Group acquired the BASF Pischelsdorf Styrene Butadiene Rubber (SBR) business for a total consideration of 
£25.8m, to complement the Group’s existing SBR markets and customers. 

The consideration paid in respect of this acquisition and the fair value of net assets acquired is summarised as follows:

Fair value 
£m

Net assets acquired

Intangible assets 17.6

Property, plant and equipment 5.4

Inventories 2.2

Post retirement benefit obligations (0.6)

Fair value of net assets acquired 24.6

Goodwill arising on acquisition 1.2

Total consideration 25.8

Satisfied by

Cash consideration 25.8

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of the business represents the premium the Group paid to acquire companies which complement 
the existing business and create significant opportunities for cross-selling and other synergies.

Acquisition costs expensed:
£m

In 12 months to 31 December 2017 0.9

In 12 months to 31 December 2018 0.1

1.0

In the period from acquisition to 31 December 2018 the business contributed the following to the Group's results:
£m

Revenue of: 42.7

Operating profit of: 2.6

If the acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial year, the following would have been included in the Group's result:
£m

Revenue of: 46.3

Operating profit of: 2.8
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32  Sale of business
Sale of Synthomer Leuna
On 1 January 2018, the Group disposed of 100% of the share capital of Synthomer Leuna GmbH for £7.1m.

The consolidated net assets of the companies at the date of disposal were as follows:

£m

Property, plant and equipment 6.4

Inventories 0.3

Trade receivables 0.1

Post retirement benefit obligations (0.3)

Net assets disposed of 6.5

Total consideration (net of disposal costs) 7.1

Less net assets disposed off (6.5)

Profit on sale of business before recycling of foreign exchange 0.6

Recycling of foreign exchange 0.4

Profit on disposal 1.0

Total consideration satisfied by:

Cash (net of disposal costs) 7.1

Cash flow: 

Cash (net of disposal costs) 7.1

Cash consideration received in 2017 (7.6)

2018 net cash inflow arising on disposal (0.5)

In the period from 1 January 2018 to the date of disposal, Synthomer Leuna contributed the following to the Group's results:
£m

Revenues of: –

Operating profit of: –

Partial sale of UAE business
The Group reduced its holding in its U.A.E assets to 49% to align with other arrangements with joint venture partners in the region. During 
the year, the Group transferred certain assets and liabilities to Synthomer Functional Solutions FZCO Limited. On 28 June 2018, the Group 
disposed of 51% of its shareholding in Synthomer Functional Solutions FZCO Limited for £1.4m, generating a profit on disposal of £0.5m 
and the Group disposed of 51% of its shareholding in Synthomer FZE Limited for £2.9m, generating a profit on disposal of £2.4m.

The subsequently created joint ventures are accounted for under the equity method of consolidation.

Company name Date of sale Purchaser Division Sale type

Synthomer FZE Limited 28 June 2018 Third party trade Asia and Rest of the World Share

Synthomer Functional 
Solutions FZCO Limited 28 June 2018 Third party trade Asia and Rest of the World Share

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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The share of net assets of the companies at the date of disposal were as follows:
£m

Inventories 0.5

Trade receivables 2.4

Trade payables (1.5)

Net assets disposed of 1.4

Total consideration (net of disposal costs) 4.2

Less net assets disposed of (1.4)

Profit on disposal 2.8

Total consideration satisfied by:

Cash (net of disposal costs) 4.2

Cash flow:

Cash consideration 4.2

2018 net cash inflow arising on disposal 4.2

In the period from 1 January 2018 to the date of disposal, the disposed businesses (100%) contributed the following to the Group's results:
£m

Revenues of: 8.2

Operating profit of: 0.5

33  Related party transactions

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not included 
in this note. Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries are disclosed in the Company's financial statements where appropriate.

The UK defined benefit scheme is a related party, see note 26.

Key management compensation
2018
 £m

2017
 £m

Short-term employee benefits 5.2 5.3

Post retirement benefit obligations 0.4 0.4

Share-based payments 1.5 2.0

7.1 7.7

The key management figures given above include the directors and members of the Executive Committee.

34  Commitments
2018 

£m
2017 

£m

Capital expenditure authorised but not provided for in the financial statements

PPE Contracted 21.2 23.7

2018 
£m

2017 
£m

Commitments under operating leases are as follows

Payments under operating leases which fall due:

Within 1 year 3.3 5.1

Between 2 and 5 years 12.0 10.7

After 5 years 15.1 18.9

30.4 34.7

Operating leases relate largely to property leases.
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35  Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and guarantees
Other guarantees and contingent liabilities of the Group amount to £8.4 million (2017: £nil) and relates to an European Commission state aid 
case in relation to the Group Financing Exemptions in the UK controlled foreign company legislation (see Note 10) and environmental liability 
in France.

The Company and its subsidiaries have, in the normal course of business, entered into guarantees and counter-indemnities in respect of 
performance bonds, relating to the Group's own contracts.

During the year, the European Commission (the Commission) initiated an investigation into practices relating to the purchase of Styrene 
monomer by companies, including Synthomer, operating in the European Economic Area. The Company has and will continue to fully 
cooperate with the Commission during its investigation. As the investigation is ongoing and the Commission does not provide feedback  
on its work until the investigation is complete, it is not possible to determine whether or not a liability exists in relation to this matter.

36  Share-based payments
Executive share option schemes
The Group's share option scheme is described in the Directors' Remuneration Report on pages 73 to 88. In addition to the two  
executive directors it is available to other senior management. The movement in the options held under the scheme are defined as follows:

Options 
2018

number

Weighted 
av. exercise 

price (£) 
2018

number

Options 
2017

number

Weighted 
av. exercise 

price (£) 
2017

number

Outstanding at 1 January 2,257,771 – 2,334,899 –

Granted during the year 547,752 – 520,958 –

Exercised during the year (883,923) – (568,032) –

Lapsed during the year (113,637) – (30,054) –

Outstanding at 31 December 1,807,963 – 2,257,771 –

Exercisable at 31 December 170,622 – 50,166 –

For options outstanding as at 31 December 2018, the exercise price was £nil and the weighted average remaining contractual life was 4.75 
years (2017: 4.73 years).

The Group also operates a cash settled share-based payment scheme for which there was an expense in the year of £0.5m (2017: £0.8m) 
and for which there was a liability at the year end of £1.5m (2017: £1.0m). 

The Synthomer Employee Benefit Trust
The Company established a trust, formerly the Yule Catto Employee Benefit Trust, on 17 July 1996 to distribute shares to employees 
enabling the obligations under the Yule Catto Longer-Term Performance Share Plan and the Yule Catto Longer-Term Deferred Bonus Plan  
to be met. The Trust is managed by the RBC Trustees (Guernsey) Limited, an independent company located in Guernsey.

At 31 December 2018, the Trust held 110,969 (2017: 249) ordinary shares in the Company with a market value of £0.4m (2017: £nil).

The dividends on these shares have been waived. All of the shares are under option. Costs are amortised over the life of the plans.

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise was £4.91 (2017: £4.70).

The weighted average fair value of the options at the measurement date granted during the year was £2.68 (2017: £2.97). The valuation was 
based on the following inputs and assumptions, using a Monte Carlo simulation model:

2018 2017

Weighted average share price (£) 4.88 5.03

Option price (£) – –

Value of optionality nil nil

Vesting assumption 55% 59%

Given the option price is £nil, the only circumstance in which a vested option will not be exercised is if the current share price is £nil. There is 
some value associated with the timing of when the exercise would be made but this is considered to be minimal and therefore this has not 
been modelled.

The vesting assumption is the estimate at the measurement date of the percentage of the options that will ultimately vest and is based on 
market conditions and management's assessment of the likelihood of achievement of the performance criteria.
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37  Share price information
The middle market value of the listed ordinary shares at 31 December 2018 was 357.4 pence. (31 December 2017: 491.4 pence). During the 
year, the market price ranged between 347.4 pence and 575.5 pence. The latest ordinary share price is available on the Group's website, 
www.synthomer.com.

38  Additional segmental analysis 
With effect from 1 January 2019, the Group has implemented a new organisation structure, comprising three operating segments.

Going forward, the following global operating segments will replace the previous regional operating segments.

++  Performance Elastomers
++  Functional Solutions
++  Industrial Specialities

2018 results under the new divisional structure are shown below:

Analysis by activity – Revenue
2018 

£m

Performance Elastomers 704.5

Functional Solutions 680.1

Industrial Specialities 234.3

1,618.9

Analysis by activity – Underlying operating profit
Subsidiaries 

£m

Share of joint 
ventures 

£m
Total 

£m

Performance Elastomers 87.2 – 87.2

Functional Solutions 52.6 0.4 53.0

Industrial Specialities 16.7 – 16.7

Reported segment operating profit 156.5 0.4 156.9

Unallocated corporate expenses (14.8) – (14.8)

Operating profit 141.7 0.4 142.1
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39  Audit exemptions
The following subsidiaries have taken advantage of the exemption from an audit for the year ended 31 December 2018 available under 
s479a of the Companies Act 2006 as the Company has given a statutory guarantee of all of the outstanding liabilities of these subsidiaries 
as at 31 December 2018.

Company Company Registration

Dimex Limited 01763129

Ecatto Limited 00978441

Harlow Chemical Company Limited 00778831

PolymerLatex Limited 03439041

S.A.(300) Limited 00236227

Super Sky Limited 02021871

Synthomer Overseas Limited 06349474

Temple Fields 514 Limited 04541637

Temple Fields 515 Limited 00692510

Temple Fields 522 Limited 05516912

Temple Fields 523 Limited 05516913

Temple Fields 530 Limited 00831113

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Note
2018
 £m

2017 
£m

Fixed assets

Property, plant and equipment 5 2.3 2.1

Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures 6 208.1 337.5

210.4 339.6

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 7 963.6 709.2

Cash and cash equivalents 53.3 35.3

1,016.9 744.5

Creditors – amounts falling due within one year

Borrowings 8 (74.3) (63.7)

Other creditors 10 (262.9) (215.2)

Derivatives at fair value 9 (5.3) –

(342.5) (278.9)

Net current assets 674.4 465.6

Total assets less current liabilities 884.8 805.2

Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year

Borrowings 8 (240.8) (157.8)

Net assets 644.0 647.4

Equity

Ordinary shares  34.0 34.0

Share premium 230.5 230.5

Revaluation reserve 0.8 0.8

Capital redemption reserve 0.9 0.9

Retained earnings 377.8 381.2

Total shareholders' funds 644.0 647.4

Analysis of net borrowings

Cash and cash equivalents 53.3 35.3

Borrowings due in less than one year (74.3) (63.7)

Borrowings due after more than one year (240.8) (157.8)

Net borrowings 8 (261.8) (186.2)

As disclosed in note 3, the Company's profit for the year was £46.9m (2017: £22.7m).

The notes on pages 147 to 156 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements of Synthomer plc (registered number 98381) on pages 145 to 156 were authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 4 March 2019.

C G MacLean	 S G Bennett
Director	 Director

Company balance sheet
31 December 2018

Company financial statements
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Called up
share

 capital 
£m

Share 
premium
account

£m

Revaluation 
reserve 

£m

Capital 
redemption 

reserve
 £m

Profit and loss 
account

£m

Total  
equity

£m

At 1 January 2018 34.0 230.5 0.8 0.9 381.2 647.4

Profit for the year – – – – 46.9 46.9

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – 46.9 46.9

Dividends – – – – (42.5) (42.5)

Share-based payments – – – – (3.9) (3.9)

Fair value of hedged interest derivatives – – – – (3.9) (3.9)

Total transactions with owners,  
recognised directly in equity – – – – (50.3) (50.3)

Balance as at 31 December 2018 34.0 230.5 0.8 0.9 377.8 644.0

Balance as at 1 January 2017 34.0 230.5 0.8 0.9 398.1 664.3

Profit for the year – – – – 22.7 22.7

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – 22.7 22.7

Dividends – – – – (39.1) (39.1)

Share-based payments – – – – (0.5) (0.5)

Total transactions with owners,  
recognised directly in equity – – – – (39.6) (39.6)

Balance as at 31 December 2017 34.0 230.5 0.8 0.9 381.2 647.4

Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31December 2018
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Notes to the Company financial statements 
31 December 2018

1  Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of accounting
The financial statements of Synthomer plc have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101, ‘Reduced Disclosure 
Framework’ (FRS 101). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 
land and buildings and derivative financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value through the income statement, and in 
accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 101 requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on industry experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The directors have reviewed the estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the financial statements. The directors do not believe 
that there is a significant risk which would lead to material adjustments to the carrying value of any assets and liabilities in the next financial 
year due to changes of estimates or assumptions.

The following exemptions from the requirements of IFRS have been applied in the preparation of these financial statements, in accordance 
with FRS 101:

++ IAS 7, ‘Statement of cashflows’;
++ The requirements in IAS24, ‘Related party disclosures’ to disclose related party transactions entered into between two or more members 
of a group;

++ IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’;
++ Paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’ (disclosure of valuation techniques and inputs used for fair value measurement 
of assets and liabilities; and

++ Paragraphs 45(b) and 46 to 52 of IFRS 2, ‘Share-based payment’ (details of the number and weighted-average exercise prices of share 
options, and how the fair value of goods or services received was determined).

Going concern
The Company meets its day-to-day working capital requirements through its cash reserves and borrowings. After making enquiries and 
taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading performance the Directors have concluded that the Company should be able to 
operate within the level of its current cash reserves and borrowings and continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The 
Company therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its financial statements.

Foreign currencies
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in  
which the Company operates (‘the functional currency’). The financial statements are presented in ‘Pounds Sterling’ (£), which is also the 
Company’s functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions 
or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income 
statement, except when deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow hedges. All other foreign exchange gains and 
losses are presented in the income statement within other operating income.

Property, plant and equipment
Properties are shown at professional valuation from 1985. All other plant and equipment are stated at cost. Cost includes the original 
purchase price of the asset plus the costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use. Increases in the 
carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to other comprehensive income and shown as Revaluation reserve 
in shareholders’ funds. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged in other comprehensive income and debited 
against Revaluation reserve; all other decreases are charged to the income statement. Each year the difference between depreciation 
based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset charged to the income statement, and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost is 
transferred from ‘Revaluation reserve’ to ‘Retained earnings’.

Except for freehold land, which is not depreciated, the cost or valuation of property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over their expected useful lives as follows:

Freehold buildings – 50 years
Plant and Equipment – 3 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
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1  Accounting policies continued
Investments
Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are shown at cost less provision for impairment.

Intercompany
Intercompany balances are shown gross unless a right of set off exists. Balances are valued at fair value at inception and are repayable  
on demand.

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement 
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxation
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance 
sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can  
be utilised.

Financial instruments
All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at transaction price (including transaction costs), except for those financial assets 
classified as at fair value through the income statement, which are initially measured at fair value. Financial assets and financial liabilities 
(including derivative instruments) are recognised on the Company statement of financial position when the Company becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and liabilities are only offset in the balance sheet when, and only when, there exists a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts and the Company intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Financial assets are derecognised, when and only when, a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or are 
settled, b) the Company transfers to another party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or c) the 
Company, despite having retained some significant risks and rewards of ownership, has transferred control of the asset to another party 
and the other party has the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that ability 
unilaterally and without needing to impose additional restrictions on the transfer.

Financial liabilities are derecognised only when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are generally short-term in nature and are therefore are all classified as current assets and their fair value recognised  
at consideration due. The carrying value of trade receivables are considered to be the same as their fair values, due to their short-term 
nature. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the income statement based on expected losses. 

Bank borrowings
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, including 
premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accruals basis to the income statement 
using the effective interest method and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the 
period in which they arise.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are generally short-term in nature and are therefore are all classified as current assets and their fair value recognised at 
amounts payable. The carrying value of trade payables are considered to be the same as their fair values, due to their short-term nature. 

Notes to the Company financial statements continued
31 December 2018
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Derivative financial instruments
The use of financial derivatives is governed by the company’s policies approved by the Board of Directors, which provide written principles 
on the use of financial derivatives.

The Company enters into derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk, including 
cross currency interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts. The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial 
instruments for speculative purposes.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair 
value at each balance sheet date. A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a 
negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the income statement immediately unless 
the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in the income statement 
depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Fair value hedge accounting
The Company designates certain derivatives as fair value hedges. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as 
fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged assets or liabilities that are 
attributable to the hedged risk. The Company only applies fair value hedge accounting for foreign currency exposure associated with the 
underlying hedged item. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is also recognised in the income statement.

Cash flow hedges
At the inception of the hedge relationship the entity documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along 
with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge 
and on an ongoing basis, the Company documents whether the hedging instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective 
in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are deferred in equity. 
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Amounts deferred in equity are recycled in the income statement in the periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss, in the 
same line of the income statement as the recognised hedged item. However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the 
recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity 
and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or non-financial liability.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Company revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that time remains in 
equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less.

Borrowings
Borrowings represent short-and long-term borrowings as adjusted for the effect of related derivative instruments irrespective of whether 
they qualify for hedge accounting.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are capitalised as prepayment for liquidity service and amortised over the term of the facility.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Dividend distribution
Dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial statements in the period in 
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders.

Financial guarantees
The Company issues guarantees in respect of bank and other facilities of subsidiaries and joint ventures.

2  Auditors’ remuneration
The audit fee of Synthomer plc amounted to £11,000 (2017: £10,000).
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3  Profit attributable to equity shareholders
2018 

£m
2017
 £m

Attributable to Synthomer plc 46.9 22.7

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 no profit and loss account is presented for Synthomer plc.

4  Ordinary dividends
2018 

Pence per 
share

2017
 Pence per 

share
2018
 £m

2017
 £m

Interim dividend 4.0 3.7 13.6 12.6

Proposed final dividend 9.1 8.5 30.9 28.9

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and has not been included as a liability 
in these financial statements.

5  Property, plant and equipment
Land and 
buildings

Freeholds 
£m

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2018 2.8

Additions 0.2

At 31 December 2018 3.0

At cost –

At professional valuation in 1985 2.8

3.0

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2018 0.7

Charge for the year

At 31 December 2018 0.7

Net book value

At 31 December 2018 2.3

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2017 2.8

Disposals –

At 31 December 2017 2.8

At cost –

At professional valuation in 1985 2.8

2.8

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2017 0.6

Charge for the year 0.1

At 31 December 2017 0.7

Net book value

At 31 December 2017 2.1

Properties included at valuation would have been stated on a historical cost basis at cost of £1.9m (2017: £1.9m) and depreciation of £0.6m 
(2017: £0.6m).

Freehold land amounting to £1.8m (2017: £1.8m) has not been depreciated.

Notes to the Company financial statements continued
31 December 2018

150 Synthomer plc Annual Report 2018



G
overnance �

58
-92

S
trateg

ic rep
o

rt �
IFC

-57
G

ro
up

 financial statem
ents�

93
-144

C
o

m
p

a
n

y fin
a

n
c

ia
l sta

te
m

e
n

ts�14
5

-15
6

O
ther info

rm
atio

n�
157-16

0

6  Investments
Subsidiaries

 £m

Joint 
ventures

 £m
Total 

£m

Cost

At 1 January 2018 337.2 0.5 337.7

Additions 160.0 – 160.0

Return of capital (292.6) – (292.6)

Hedge adjustment (see below) 3.2 – 3.2

At 31 December 2018 207.8 0.5 208.3

Provisions

At 1 January 2018 – 0.2 0.2

At 31 December 2018 – 0.2 0.2

Net book value

At 31 December 2018 207.8 0.3 208.1

Net book value

At 31 December 2017 337.2 0.3 337.5

Details of the Group's subsidiaries and joint ventures are given on pages 154 to 156.

During the year the Company designated up to €264.1m (2017: €232.5) of its borrowings as a FRS 101 fair value hedge against the 
designated Euro portion of its investment in Synthomer Jersey Limited of up to €264.1m (2017: €232.5m). The movement in the Euro 
borrowings is recorded in the profit and loss account along with the movement of the hedged investment. 

Directors consider the value of investments to be supported by underlying assets.

7  Trade and other receivables
2018 

£m
2017 

£m

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 962.9 708.6

Other receivables 0.7 0.6

963.6 709.2

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are valued at fair value at inception and are repayable on demand.
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8  Borrowings
2018
 £m

2017 
£m

Current borrowings

Bank loans

Overdrafts 24.9 14.8

Committed unsecured €55m loan expiring 21 November 2018 – 48.9

Committed unsecured €55m loan expiring 26 July 2019 49.4 –

74.3 63.7

Non-current borrowings

Bank loans

Committed unsecured £370.0m multi currency Revolving Credit Facility expiring 30 July 2019 – 158.6

Committed unsecured €440m multi currency Revolving Credit Facility expiring 23 July 2022 242.6 –

242.6 158.6

Less: capitalised costs (1.8) (0.8)

240.8 157.8

Bank loans are denominated in Euro (2017: Euro and Czech Koruna) and bear interest based on EURIBOR (2017: LIBOR and EURIBOR). 

At 31 December 2018, the Company had available £152.4m (2017: £172.2m) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities in respect of which 
all conditions precedent had been met. 

Analysis of borrowings at carrying value by currency
The directors calculate the carrying value of the Company’s borrowings as follows:

Sterling
 £m

US dollar 
£m

Euro 
£m

Total 
£m

31 December 2018

Bank loans and overdrafts 5.2 3.2 308.5 316.9

Capitalised costs (1.8) – – (1.8)

3.4 3.2 308.5 315.1

Cash and cash equivalents (53.3)

Net borrowings 261.8

31 December 2017

Bank loans and overdrafts 9.5 5.3 207.5 222.3

Capitalised costs (0.8) – – (0.8)

8.7 5.3 207.5 221.5

Cash and cash equivalents (35.3)

Net borrowings 186.2

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and other short-term highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less.

Notes to the Company financial statements continued
31 December 2018
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9  Financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments has been disclosed in the Company’s statement of financial position as:

2018 2017

Fair value of financial assets

Loans and 
receivables 

£m

Fair value 
through
 Income

statement 
£m

Total 
carrying

 value
 £m

Loans and 
receivables 

£m

Fair value 
through
 Income

 statement 
£m

Total 
carrying

 value
 £m

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments 963.2 – 963.2 708.6 – 708.6

Cash and cash equivalents 53.3 – 53.3 35.3 – 35.3

1,016.5 – 1,016.5 743.9 – 743.9

Fair value of financial liabilities

Loans and 
payables at 

amortised
 cost

£m

Fair value 
through
 Income 

statement
 £m

Total 
carrying 

value
 £m

Loans and 
payables at 

amortised
 cost

£m

Fair value 
through
 Income 

statement
 £m

Total 
carrying 

value
 £m

Bank loans and overdrafts 315.1 – 315.1 221.5 – 221.5

Trade and other payables 262.9 – 262.9 215.2 – 215.2

Derivatives at fair value – 5.3 5.3 – – –

578.0 5.3 583.3 436.7 – 436.7

A fuller description of financial instruments is included in note 23 of the consolidated financial statements on page 128.

10  Other creditors
2018 

£m
2017 

£m

Amount due within one year

Amounts owed to Group undertakings 254.1 213.0

Other creditors 2.3 0.8

Accruals and deferred income 6.5 1.4

262.9 215.2

Amounts owed to Group undertakings are valued at fair value at inception and are repayable on demand.

11  Called up share capital
Details of the Company's share capital and outstanding share options are shown in note 28 of the consolidated financial statements on 
page 138.

12  Related party transactions
The Company has elected to take the allowable exemption in terms of FRS 101 to not disclose transactions with wholly-owned subsidiaries.

13  Guarantees and other financial commitments
The Company has given guarantees amounting to £37.2m (2017: £55.7m) in respect of bank and other facilities of subsidiaries  
and joint ventures.

14  Share-based payments
For details of share-based payments please refer to note 36 to the consolidated financial statements on page 142.

15  Employees
The Company had no employees during the year (2017: nil).
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16  Subsidiaries and joint ventures

Company
Trading/

Non-Trading Registered address
Place of 

incorporation

Effective
Group 

interest in
equity 

%

Desa Baiduri Sdn Bhd Non–Trading 
(Letting of 
Properties)

Bangunan Revertex, 1 1/2 Miles, 
Jalan Batu Pahat, 86000 Kluang, 

Johor Darul Takzim

Malaysia 70

Dimex Limited Non–Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields,
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 100

Ecatto Limited Non–Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 1003

Fine Chemicals Sdn Bhd Non-Trading Bangunan Revertex, 1 1/2 Miles, 
Jalan Batu Pahat, 86000 Kluang, 

Johor Darul Takzim

Malaysia 70 

Harlow Chemical Company Limited Non–Trading Temple Fields, Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH United Kingdom 1002

Holliday Pigments Limited Non–Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 1004

Kind Action (M) Sdn Bhd Trading Bangunan Revertex, 1 1/2 Miles, 
Jalan Batu Pahat, 86000 Kluang, 

Johor Darul Takzim

Malaysia 70

PAC Chemical (Shanghai) Co Limited 
(in the process of de-registration)

Trading Room 326, 3rd Floor, Building No.3, 
No.500 Bingke Road, 

Shanghai Free Trade Zone

China 100

PolymerLatex Ltd Non–Trading Central Road, Temple Fields, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 100

Polymerlatex Sdn Bhd Trading 1 1/2 Miles, Jalan Batu Pahat, 86000 
Kluang, Johor Darul Takzim

Malaysia 100

Quality Polymer Sdn Bhd Trading Bangunan Revertex, 1 1/2 Miles, 
Jalan Batu Pahat, 86000 Kluang, 

Johor Darul Takzim

Malaysia 70

Revertex (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Trading Bangunan Revertex, 1 1/2 Miles, 
Jalan Batu Pahat, 86000 Kluang,

 Johor Darul Takzim

Malaysia 70

Revertex Limited Non–Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 1003

Rexplas Sdn Bhd Non-Trading 
(Dormant)

Bangunan Revertex, 1 1/2 Miles, 
Jalan Batu Pahat, 86000 Kluang, 

Johor Darul Takzim

Malaysia 70

S.A. (300) Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 1003

Shanghai Synthomer Chemicals 
Co Limited (FICE)

Trading China Technical Centre, Building 53-55, 
Lane 1000 Zhangheng Road, 

Zhangjiang High-tech Park, Pudong, 
Shanghai 201203

China 100

Star Pharma Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 100

Super Sky Limited Non-Trading Synthomer Building, Temple Fields, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 501,3

Synthomer (Thailand) Limited Trading 3195/6 Vibulthani Tower 1 
1st Floor, Rama IV Road,

Klongton Sub-District, Klongtoey District
Bangkok 10110

Thailand 100

Synthomer (UK) Limited Trading Temple Fields, Central Road, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 100

Synthomer 2016 Limited Non-Trading Synthomer Building, Temple Fields, 
Central Road, Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 1004

Synthomer AS Trading Sokolov, Tovární 2093, 
Postal Code 356 01

Czech Republic 100

Synthomer Asua SL Trading Camino Sangroniz, No 8 Sondika
48150 Vizcaya

Spain 100

Notes to the Company financial statements continued
31 December 2018
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Company
Trading/

Non-Trading Registered address
Place of 

incorporation

Effective
Group 

interest in
equity 

%

Synthomer Australia Pty Limited Trading C/o : Cosec Consulting Pty Ltd
58 Gipps Street, Collingwood, VIC 3066

Australia 100

Synthomer Austria GmbH Trading Industriepark Pischelsdorf
 3435 Zwentendorf an der Donau

Austria 100

Synthomer Bangkok Limited Trading 3195/6 Vibulthani Tower 1 
1st Floor, Rama IV Road, Klongton Sub-District,

Klongtoey District, Bangkok 10110

Thailand 100

Synthomer BV Trading Ijsselstraat 41, 5347 KG Oss The Netherlands 100

Synthomer Deutschland GmbH Trading Werrastrasse 10, D-45768 Marl Germany 100

Synthomer Finland Oy Trading P.O.B 175 FI-90101 Oulu Finland 100

Synthomer France SAS Trading 704 rue Pierre et Marie Curie 60170 
Ribécourt-Dreslincourt 

France 100

Synthomer Functional Solutions FZCO Trading Building East, Wing 2-office, No.201, Dubai U.A.E 491

Synthomer FZE Trading Dubai Airport Free Zone Authority, Dubai U.A.E 491

Synthomer Holdings (CZE) s.r.o Non-Trading V Celnici 1031/4, Nové M sto, 
11000, Prague 1

Czech Republic 100

Synthomer Holdings (Thailand) Limited Non–Trading No. 99/329 Soi Suanluang,
Bangkho Sub-District, 

Jomthong District, Bangkok

 Thailand 100

Synthomer Holdings Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 1003

Synthomer Jersey Ltd Non-Trading 44 Esplanade, St Helier, JE4 9WG Jersey 1003 

Synthomer LLC Trading 1201 Peachtree Street NE, Atlanta, 
Fulton, GA 30361

(CT Corporation)

USA 100

Synthomer Middle East Company Limited Trading PO Box 7544, Dammam 31472 Saudi Arabia 491

Synthomer Overseas Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 1003

Synthomer Participacoes Ltda Trading Av. Casa Verde, 3100, sala 01, 
bairro Casa Verde, CEP-02520-300, 

São Paulo-SP

Brazil 100

Synthomer S.r.l Trading Via delle Industrie 9, – 24040 Filago (BG) Italy 100

Synthomer SAE Trading Industriel Zone 1-B, 10th of 
Ramadam City, Sharkiya

Egypt 88

Synthomer Sdn Bhd Trading Bangunan Revertex, 1 1/2 Miles, 
Jalan Batu Pahat, 86000 Kluang, 

Johor Darul Takzim

Malaysia 100

Synthomer Speciality Additives AB Trading Durmakker 33, 9940 Evergem Sweden 100

Synthomer Specialty Resins S.r.l Trading Via Morozzo 27, 12040 Sant’Albano 
Stura, CN 

 Italy 100

Synthomer Trading Limited Trading 45 Pall Mall, London, SW1Y 5JG United Kingdom 100

Synthomer USA LLC Trading 160 Greentree Dr. Suite 101
Dover, Delaware, 19904 

(Registered agent address)

USA 100

Synthomer Vietnam Co Ltd Trading No. 8 Road 6 (Lots No. 101, 109)
Sang Than I Industrial Park,

Di An District, Binh Duong Province

Vietnam 60

Temple Fields 510 Non-Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 100

Temple Fields 512 Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 1003

Temple Fields 514 Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 1003

Temple Fields 515 Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 100
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Company
Trading/

Non-Trading Registered address
Place of 

incorporation

Effective
Group 

interest in
equity 

%

Temple Fields 522 Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 1003

Temple Fields 523 Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 1003

Temple Fields 530 Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 100

Temple Fields 534 Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 100

Temple Fields GmbH Non-Trading Innerstetal 2, 38685 Langelsheim Germany 100

Temple Fields GmbH & Co  
Chemie oHG (formerly James  
Robinson GmbH & Co Chemie oHG)

Non-Trading Innerstetal 2, 38685 Langelsheim Germany 100

Temple Fields Verwaltungs GmbH (formerly 
James Robinson Verwaltungs GmbH)

Non-Trading Innerstetal 2, 38685 Langelsheim Germany 100

Terra Simfoni Sdn Bhd Non-Trading 
(Investment

 Holding) 

Bangunan Revertex, 1 1/2 Miles,
Jalan Batu Pahat, 86000 Kluang, 

Johor Darul Takzim

Malaysia 100

UQUIFA Italia S.r.l Non-Trading Piazza Cavour 3, Milano Italy 100

William Blythe Limited Trading Synthomer Building, Temple Fields, 
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

United Kingdom 100

Yule Catto BV Non-Trading Ijsselstraat 41, 5347 KG Oss The Netherlands 100

Yule Catto France SA Non-Trading 6 Place de la Madeline, 75008 Paris France 100

Yule Catto Holdings GmbH Non-Trading Werrastrasse 10, 45768 Marl Germany 100

Yule Catto Inc Non-Trading 1201 Peachtree Street NE, Atlanta, Fulton, 
GA 30361 

USA 100

Yule Catto International SA Non-Trading 6 Place de la Madeline, 75008 Paris France 100

Yule Catto Nederland BV Non-Trading Ijsselstraat 41, 5347 KG Oss The Netherlands 100

Yule Catto Overseas Non-Trading Temple Fields, Central Road, 
Harlow, Essex, CM2O 2BH

United Kingdom 1003

Yule Catto Spain SL Non-Trading C/O Rambla de Catalunya no. 53, Atico, 
08007 Barcelona

Spain 100

Yule Catto Western Europe Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields, 
Central Road,Harlow, Essex, CM2O 2BH

United Kingdom 1004

Notes
1.	 Joint ventures.
2.	 Harlow Chemical Company Limited was incorporated in UK but is resident in the Netherlands.
3.	 Shares directly held by Synthomer plc.
4	 Dissolved January 2019

Notes to the Company financial statements continued
31 December 2018
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Five year financial summary

Underlying performancea
2018 

£m
2017 

£m
2016
 £m

2015
 £m

2014
 (restated)f 

£m

Revenue 1,618.9 1,480.2 1,045.7 870.1 936.4

EBITDAb 181.0 176.2 160.1 125.0 118.0 

Operating profitc 142.1 139.0 130.2 102.9 96.5

Finance costs (7.0) (9.0) (8.0) (7.6) (10.5)

Profit before taxation 135.1 130.0 122.2 95.3 86.0 

Basic earnings per share 32.8p 30.7p 28.3p 21.5p 19.5p 

Dividends per share 13.1p 12.2p 11.3p 8.6p 7.8p 

Dividend cover 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 

Net borrowingsd (214.0) (180.5) (150.3) (77.4) (112.1)

Capital expendituree 75.7 60.3 45.6 22.8 22.0 

IFRS – continuing operations 
2018
 £m

2017
 £m

2016
 £m

2015 
£m

2014 
 (restated)f 

£m

Revenue 1,618.9 1,480.2 1,045.7 870.1 936.4

EBITDAb 181.0 176.2 160.1 125.0 118.0 

Operating profitc 128.7 95.4 144.7 80.3 65.1 

Finance costs (8.4) (9.0) (8.0) (7.8) (11.3)

Profit before taxation 120.3 86.4 136.7 72.5 53.8 

Basic earnings per share 29.4p 21.8p 32.5p 17.8p 13.3p 

Dividends per share 13.1p 12.2p 11.3p 8.6p 7.8p 

Dividend cover 2.2 1.8 2.9 2.1 1.7 

Net borrowingsd (214.0) (180.5) (150.3) (80.1) (114.1)

Capital expendituree 75.7 60.3 45.6 22.8 22.0

Notes
a	 As presented in the consolidated income statement on page 100.
b	 As defined in the accounting policies at note 2 and reconciled in note 6.
c	 As defined in the accounting policies at note 2.
d	 As defined in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements and reconciled in note 22.
e	 As shown with the consolidated cash flow statement.
f	 Restated for impact of IAS19 revised.

Other information
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Other information

AGM Annual General Meeting

AIMS Accident and Incident Management System

APMs Alternative Performance Measures

ARW Asia and Rest of the World

C&C Construction and Coatings

C&F Carpet and Foam

CGU Cash Generating Units

CH4 Methane

CIA Chemical Industries Association

CO2 Carbon Dioxide

CO2e Carbon Dioxide equivalent

Capital employed Net assets excluding third party net debt

Constant currency Reflects current year results for existing business translated at the prior year’s average exchange rates,  
and includes the impact of acquisitions. 

CRM Customer Relationship Management system

CSR Corporate Social Responsibility

DEFRA Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

EBITDA EBITDA is calculated as operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and Special Items

EGM Extraordinary General Meeting

ENA Europe and North America

EPS Earnings Per Share

ERP Enterprise Resource Planning

ESG Environmental, Social and Governance

FP Functional Polymers

FRC Financial Reporting Council

Free cash flow Net cash flow from operating activities, after net interest paid and purchases and proceeds from sale 
of non-current assets and investments

FRS Financial Reporting Standard

FS Functional Solutions

GHGs Greenhouse Gases

GJ Gigajoule

GWP Global Warming Potential

H&P Health and Protection

HR Human Resources

HSSBR High Solids Styrene Butadiene Rubber

IAS International Accounting Standard

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

IS Industrial Specialities

ISA International Standards of Auditing

KPIs Key Performance Indicators

ktes Kilotonne or 1,000 tonnes (metric)

LTA Lost Time Accident

LTIP Long Term Incentive Plan

M&A Mergers and Acquisitions

MOC Management of Change

MYR Malaysian Ringgits

N2O Nitrous Oxide

NBR Nitrile Butadiene Rubber 

Glossary of terms
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Net borrowings Net borrowings represent cash and cash equivalents together with short and long-term borrowings, 
as adjusted for the effect of related derivative instruments irrespective of whether they qualify for 
hedge accounting, non-recourse factoring arrangements, and the inclusion of financial assets

Net debt Borrowings and other financial liabilities less cash and cash equivalents

NOx Nitrogen Oxide

Operating profit Operating profit represents profit from continuing activities before finance costs and taxation

PBT Profit Before Tax

PE Performance Elastomers

PPE Property, Plant and Equipment

PSP Performance Share Plan

PTW Permit to Work

PVC Polyvinyl Chloride

R&D Research and Development

ROIC Return on Invested Capital is calculated as Group Underlying operating profit as a percentage of Group 
capital employed 

SBR Styrene Butadiene Rubber

SEC Specific Energy Consumption

SHE Safety, Health and Environment

SHEMS Safety, Health and Environment Management System

The Code The UK Corporate Governance Code

TSR Total Shareholder Return

UK GAAP UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice

Underlying performance Underlying performance represents the statutory performance of the Group under IFRS, excluding 
special items

VOCs Volatile Organic Compounds
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Advisers

Registered office
Synthomer plc
Temple Fields
Harlow
Essex
CM20 2BH

Registered number 98381

Company Secretary
Richard Atkinson

Bankers
Barclays Bank PLC
Commerzbank AG
HSBC Bank plc
Citibank 
Lloyds Bank plc
SEB
China Construction Bank Corporation

Joint stockbrokers
Barclays Bank PLC and Canaccord Genuity Limited

Registrars
Computershare Investor Services PLC
Lochside House
7 Lochside Avenue
Edinburgh Park
Edinburgh
EH12 9DJ

Independent auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered accountants and statutory auditor
London, UK

Solicitors
Herbert Smith Freehills LLP
Squire Patton Boggs (UK) LLP
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